

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Leadership Communications Strategies for Enhancing Virtual Team Performance

Rachel Oludolapo Agbi Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the <u>Health and Medical Administration Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Rachel O. Agbi

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Patricia Fusch, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janet Booker, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Patsy Kasen, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Leadership Communications Strategies for Enhancing Virtual Team Performance

by

Rachel O. Agbi

MS, Mountain State University, 2009 BS, Shepherd University, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

January 2018

Abstract

The fast-growing trend of using virtual teams comes with challenges including the lack of knowledge by some virtual team leaders for managing virtual teams. The purpose of this single case study was to explore the communication strategies that leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. The sample was composed of 4 successful virtual team leaders of a multinational accounting firm whose headquarters is in the northeastern region of the United States of America. The conceptual framework that guided this study was Tuckman's small group developmental model. Data consisted of semistructured interviews and the review of archival company documents. The interview protocol, interview transcription, member checking, and methodological triangulation allowed for data reliability and validity. Five themes emerged regarding completion of the 4 stages (comprehension, synthesizing, theorizing, and recontextualizing) of data analysis: time synchronization, face-to-face interaction, continuous training, communication tools and frequency, and leadership training and development. The findings of this study could contribute to social change enhancing communication strategies used in virtual teams, which could result in higher employee satisfaction, which in turn could benefit the organizations and virtual employees, their families, and communities.

Leadership Communications Strategies for Enhancing Virtual Team Performance

by

Rachel O. Agbi

MS, Mountain State University, 2009 BS, Shepherd University, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

January 2018

Dedication

I am thankful to the Almighty God for His grace, mercy, and favor through the entire doctoral study process. God was faithful, as always.

Acknowledgments

I am grateful for Dr. Gene Fusch; my doctoral study journey changed for the better the day I met him. I am thankful to Dr. Patricia Fusch, my committee Chair for her remarkable guidance, constructive reviews, encouragements, and leadership. Dr. Fusch, thank you for being an amazing, one of a kind mentor. I am grateful for Dr. Janet Booker, my committee member, and Dr. Patsey Kasen, my URR; thank you for your time, advice, and your great reviews.

I am thankful for my study participants. Thank you for your time and patience.

To my dad and mom, Mr. and Mrs. J.E. Olagundoye, and my siblings Dapo, Dotun, and Buky; thank you for your prayers and encouragement.

I am thankful for my one of a kind husband, Mr. Owoyele Agbi, and awesome daughter, Anuoluwapo Agbi. Thank you both for your encouragement, love, amazing support, and prayers. You are simply the best!

Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study
Background of the Problem
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question5
Interview Questions5
Conceptual Framework5
Operational Definitions6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations
Assumptions7
Limitations8
Delimitations
Significance of the Study9
Contribution to Business Practice
Implications for Social Change9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature10
Tuckman's Small Group Developmental Model
Teams in General
Virtual Teams
Forms of Virtual Teams

Advantages of Virtual Teams	16
Challenges of Virtual Teams	18
Communication in Virtual Teams	22
Communication Tools in Virtual Teams	29
Trust and Communication in Virtual Teams	31
Leadership in Virtual Teams	35
Virtual Team Performance	39
Transition	40
Section 2: The Project	42
Purpose Statement	42
Role of the Researcher	43
Participants	44
Research Method and Design	46
Research Method	47
Research Design	48
Population and Sampling	49
Ethical Research.	51
Data Collection Instruments	52
Data Collection Technique	53
Data Organization Technique	55
Data Analysis	56
Reliability and Validity	57

	Reliability	57
	Validity	58
	Transition and Summary	60
Se	ection 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	61
	Introduction	61
	Presentation of the Findings	61
	Emergent Theme 1: Time Synchronization	62
	Emergent Theme 2: Face-to-Face Interaction	64
	Emergent Theme 3: Continuous Training	67
	Emergent Theme 4: Communication Tools and Frequency	69
	Emergent Theme 5: Leadership Training and Development	72
	Applications to Professional Practice	74
	Implications for Social Change	76
	Recommendations for Action	77
	Recommendations for Further Research	80
	Reflections	82
	Conclusion	83
R	eferences	85
A	ppendix A: Semistructured Interview Questions	104
Δ	nnendix R: Interview Protocol	105

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Virtual teams extend across global geographical areas allowing organizations the opportunity to hire experts from all over the world (Jang, 2013). Virtual team members and leaders communicate via the use of communication tool or information and communication technologies (ICTs) such as teleconferencing, video conferencing, Skype, discussion forum, email, instant messenger, and more (Barnwell, Nedrick, Rudolph, Sesay, & Wellen, 2014; Bartelt & Dennis, 2014; Lilian, 2014). Virtual communication can be difficult (Lockwood, 2015). Communication is a critical and essential element in the success and performance level of a virtual team (El-Sofany, Alwadani, & Alwadani, 2014).

Background of the Problem

The use of virtual teams has become commonplace with organizations (Fan, Chen, Wang, & Chen, 2014; Yilmaz & Peña, 2015). Organizations employ the use of virtual teams to meet organizations' goals and objectives; this manner of achieving organizational goals and objectives which started as early as in the 1980s, will continue as organizations strive to compete, grow, and meet consumers' needs (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015; Hoch & Kozlowski, 2014; Saafein & Shaykhian, 2014). The use of virtual teams by organizations allow such organizations to enjoy several advantages including the ability to hire expertise from all over the world (Barnwell et al., 2014), allowing for an increase in creativity and innovation (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). Organizations make use of communication tools, or ICTs, with its virtual teams to enable easy and quick communication and collaboration across any

distance (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017; Lilian, 2014).

This fast-growing trend of making use of virtual teams comes with some challenges including the lack of knowledge by some leaders for managing virtual teams (Pangil & Chan, 2014). Virtual team members and leaders face communication and collaboration challenges (Cordes, 2017). Virtual communication is demanding, difficult, and challenging due to the absence of face-to-face communication, which is better than non-face-to-face communication because of the presence of verbal and para-verbal cues (Lilian, 2014; Lockwood, 2015). Communication is a critical factor in the success of virtual teams (El-Sofany et al., 2014). An effective communication process enhances team performance (Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas, 2017). The purpose of this study is to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance.

Problem Statement

Virtual teams span global geographical locations, enabling organizations to draw expertise from all over the globe (Jang, 2013). The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2016) reported that 24.1% American employees work virtually some or all the time. The general business problem is some leaders lack knowledge for managing virtual teams. The specific business problem is that some leaders lack communication strategies to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance

team performance. The targeted population was four successful leaders from a multinational accounting firm whose headquarters is in the northeastern region of the United States. The implications for positive social change include the potential to provide virtual team leaders with communication strategies for managing virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. This study could also result in virtual team members having a better work environment where communication is regular, timely, positive, and precise, which could lead to higher job satisfaction. The enhanced teams' performances, better work environments, and higher job satisfaction could benefit the organization, virtual team leaders, virtual team members, their families, and communities.

Nature of the Study

The chosen research method for this study is qualitative. Using a qualitative research method enables the researcher to study phenomena via the experiences of participants while identifying and exploring themes for answering research questions (Bluhm, Harman, Lee, & Mitchell, 2011). The qualitative research method is optimal for the provision of answers to open-ended questions such as *what*, *why*, and *how* (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). In contrast, the quantitative method is ideal for the provision of answers to closed-ended questions such as *who*, *where*, *how many*, and *how much*. Researchers use the quantitative method to test hypotheses (Hoare & Hoe, 2013). Employing the mixed method requires the use of both the qualitative and quantitative methods (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). To explore the communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance, I will not be testing hypotheses and, therefore, the quantitative method is not suitable for

this study, neither is the mixed method because of the quantitative element in the mixed method.

A descriptive case study design was the most appropriate design for this study. Researchers use a case study to obtain an in-depth understanding of phenomena or processes in a single or multiple real-world experience (Yin, 2014). A descriptive case study design met the need of this study in that it enabled an in-depth study of lived experiences with current applicability in actual life (Fusch & Fusch, 2015). Researchers use descriptive case study design to study the lived experiences using open-ended questions such as how or what questions (Fusch & Fusch, 2015). Before I selected a descriptive case study design, I considered other qualitative designs such as phenomenology, ethnography, grounded theory, and narrative. Researchers use phenomenology designs when they need to focus on the commonality of several people's lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994), which was not the focus for this study because my goal was to explore communication strategies that team leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. Researchers use ethnography designs to focus on groups' cultures (Moustakas, 1994), which was not my goal in this study. Furthermore, researchers use grounded theory designs to focus on the development of a theory based on the study findings (Moustakas, 1994), which was not my focus in this study. Researchers use narrative designs to focus on identifying and exploring participants' lived stories (Esin, Fathi, & Squire, 2014), which also was not my aim for this study.

Research Question

The research question that guided my study was as follows: What communication strategies do leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance?

Interview Questions

- 1. How do you assess or measure your virtual teams' performance?
- 2. What performance challenges have you experienced with your virtual teams?
- 3. What communication strategies, processes, and tools do you use to manage your virtual teams in real time to enhance performance?
- 4. How do you assess the effectiveness of the communications strategies, processes, and tools that you have implemented to manage your virtual teams in real time to enhance performance?
- 5. What, if any, barriers did you encounter to implementing the communications strategies, processes, and tools?
- 6. How did you address the barriers to implementing the communications strategies, processes, and tools for enhancing your virtual teams' performance?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share about the communication strategies, processes, and tools that you use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance?

Conceptual Framework

I chose Tuckman's small group developmental model constructed in 1965 by

Bruce Tuckman. The four stages of Tuckman's small group developmental model are (a) forming, (b) storming, (c) norming, and (d) performing. Tuckman and Jensen (1977) later added a fifth stage called adjourning, to the small group developmental model. All teams fall within the developmental stages based on the team's social and task behaviors (Tuckman, 1965). McGrew, Bilotta, and Deeney (1999) later extended the work of Tuckman. McGrew et al. (1999) indicated that groups go through stages of decline once they reach Tuckman's performance stage. Groups go through the decline stages in a reverse Tuckman order that is de-norming, de-storming, and de-forming (McGrew et al., 1999). As applied to this study, Tuckman's small group developmental model holds, such that the stage(s) advanced by the model was evident as I explored the team leaders' experiences regarding the communication strategies for managing virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance.

Operational Definitions

Communication: Communication is the exchange of information (Morgan, Paucar-Caceres, & Wright, 2014).

Communication tool, or information and communication technologies (ICTs):

These are the tools or means of communication such as video conferencing, Skype,
instant messenger, discussion forum, and email (Barnwell et al., 2014; Bartelt & Dennis,
2014).

Communication quality: This is the substance quality of communication (Chang, Hung, & Hsieh, 2014).

Performance: Performance in a group is a measure of satisfaction in terms of apparent member participation, member agreement, apparent decision quality, and the decision-making process toward the positive completion of assignments based on the organization's standards (Bartelt & Dennis, 2014; Chang et al., 2014).

Team trust: This is a situation where team members allow themselves to be susceptible to the actions of other team members, knowing that the other team members will perform actions that are vital to the team regardless of monitoring or controlling ability over the other team members (Breuer, Hüffmeier, & Hertel, 2016).

Traditional team: A traditional team is a group of people who work in close proximity, usually in the same building, and mostly collaborate and the synchronize work process in face-to-face meetings (Krumm, Kanthak, Hartmann, & Hertel, 2016).

Virtual team: A virtual team is a group of geographically dispersed and culturally diverse people with a common goal and heavy reliance on information technology to achieve set goals (Hanebuth, 2015; Lilian, 2014).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are suppositions that are believed to be true, but these suppositions are not necessarily true or verifiable (Grant, 2014). Assumptions are risky, regardless of whether they are conscious or otherwise (Fan, 2013). I made some assumptions about the process and outcome of this study. I assumed that at least four participants would be available and would have the needed experiences relevant to this study. I assumed that the virtual teams used ICTs to perform their day-to-day tasks. I assumed that participants

would answer the interview questions honestly, clearly, precisely, and without biases. I assumed that participants would allow a recording of the interviews. Meeting the various assumptions was likely because I carefully selected successful participants from organizations with state-of-the-art ICTs.

Limitations

Limitations are potential weaknesses outside the researcher's control that can affect the process and outcome of the study (Connelly, 2013). This study was limited by the fact that participants were from the same organization were all living on the west coast of the United States. The participants' experiences may have been similar and lacked originality. The small sample size was also a limitation in my study. Furthermore, the results arenot transferable to a larger group. Finally, the study is limited because I based it on the self-reported experience and opinions of participants, which could be full of conscious and unconscious biases.

Delimitations

Delimitations are boundaries set by the researcher for the study to focus on answering the research questions (Baxter & Jack, 2008). The study participants consisted of four virtual team leaders of an accounting firm with worldwide locations. The participants were all located in the same facility in the west coast region of the United States. I collected data via semistructured interviews and reviewed communication and performance documents.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Virtual team leaders encounter many of the same challenges faced by traditional team leaders. Virtual team leaders cannot address those challenges using the same strategies and tactics employed by traditional setting leaders (Saafein & Shaykhian, 2014). Communication is a challenge in the management of virtual teams (El-Sofany et al., 2014). Communication is an important factor in virtual team performance (Saafein & Shaykhian, 2014). The results of this study could help organizational leaders gain new knowledge in communication strategies for managing virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. The availability of this new knowledge to organizational leaders could potentially influence the communication strategies used with virtual teams which could result in an increase of virtual teams and organizational performance.

Implications for Social Change

Virtual team leaders consider virtual team communication as challenging; when compared to face to face communication, virtual team communication is said to be more demanding (Lockwood, 2015). The wrong communication strategies, process, or tools used in a virtual team could hinder team performance, negatively affect work environment, and as such negatively affect employee job satisfaction, their families, and communities. A virtual team leader needs to exhibit finesse in communication while relaying needed information to team members and enhancing the teams' performance. The implications for positive social change include the potential for virtual team leaders and members to communicate in a manner that positively enhances performance

(Barnwell et al., 2014). The result of this study could bring about a change in communication strategies used in virtual teams and lead to higher employee satisfaction, which could benefit the organizations, virtual employees, their families, and communities. The identification and exploration of the communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance could lead to high performing virtual teams which could result in sustainable businesses and fulfilled employees and enable organizations to grow and develop for the benefit of the organizations, employees, their families, and communities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Organizations have increased their use of virtual teams (Charlier et al., 2016; Krumm et al., 2016; Minas, Potter, Dennis, Bartelt, & Bae, 2014). Virtual teams have fast become the norm in the business world (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Fan et al., 2014; Yilmaz, 2016). Managing virtual teams is different from managing a traditional team (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; El-Sofany et al., 2014; Ford et al., 2017; Lilian, 2014). Managing virtual teams can be difficult and challenging (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Orhan, 2014). Virtual communication is difficult, exacting, and challenging (Lockwood, 2015). Some leaders lack communication strategies to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. The purpose of this qualitative descriptive single case study is to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance.

Google Scholar database and Business Source Complete were the two main sources used to obtain peer-reviewed literature. Other databases included ABI/INFORM,

ProQuest, SAGE journals, and Thoreau. The keywords that I used for the literature search included *virtual teams*, *virtual teams and traditional teams*, *virtual teams and traditional teams and origin*, *global teams*, *traditional teams*, *types of virtual teams*, *leadership and personality and managers*, *virtual team communication*, *communication in virtual teams*, *communication tools in virtual teams*, *virtual team leaders*, *trust and virtual teams*, and *virtual team performance*. The focus for the literature review was mostly on peerreviewed articles that were less than 5 years old from the anticipation date of Walden University's chief academic officer's (CAO) approval of my study. The literature review contains 65 peer-reviewed articles, and more than 93.8% of the articles have a publication date of after 2014 and later.

The literature review is organized thematically based on content and topic of discussion, and it includes multiple perspectives. The main areas of attention for the literature review include Tuckman's small group developmental model; teams in general; virtual teams (forms, advantages, and challenges); communication in virtual teams; communication tools in virtual teams; trust and communication in virtual teams; leadership in virtual teams; and virtual team performance.

Tuckman's Small Group Developmental Model

Tuckman's (1965) small group developmental model has four stages: (a) forming, (b) storming, (c) norming, and (d) performing. Tuckman and Jensen (1977) later added a fifth stage, c adjourning, to the small group developmental model.

Forming. Forming is the first stage in Tuckman's team theory (Tuckman, 1965). The forming stage is the stage where team members test the limits as a way to figure out

what is acceptable behaviors and tasks within the group. Team members are in a sort of orientation phase; learning about other team members as well as the job at hand.

Members tend to be dependent at this stage, looking up to the team leader or other team members for guidance.

Storming. Storming is the second stage in Tuckman's team theory (Tuckman, 1965). The storming stage is a difficult one for the team; the characteristics of this stage include conflict, resistance to tasks, and high emotional responses to assigned tasks.

Some team members or leaders do not survive this stage.

Norming. Norming is the third stage in Tuckman's team theory (Tuckman, 1965). The characteristics of the norming stage include group unity, acceptance of group members and their faults, the formation of new norms to allow for agreement and peace, and the avoidance of conflict. The team becomes a unit in this stage.

Performing. Performing is the fourth stage in Tuckman's team theory (Tuckman, 1965). Some of the characteristics of the performing stage include constructive acts toward the task at hand, a problem-solving mindset, and flexibility and adaptability with the group tasks. High-functioning members, high performers, efficient and effective communication, and appropriate allocation and use of resources characterize the team at this stage. A team at this stage becomes a high-functioning team, a solution to problems.

Adjourning. Adjourning is the fifth stage in Tuckman's team theory (Tuckman & Jensen, 1977). Tuckman and Jensen (1977) extended the work of Tuckman (1965) with this stage. Tuckman and Jensen conceptualized the fifth stage 12 years after Tuckman defined with the initial four stages. The characteristics of the adjourning stage include the

end of the group, a dissolution stage. This stage is the dissolving of the team, which is usually after the accomplishment of the team's mission.

Tuckman claimed that every team experiences these stages of development. All teams fall within the developmental stages based on the teams' social and task behaviors (Tuckman, 1965). McGrew et al. (1999) further extended the work of Tuckman. McGrew et al. (denoted that groups go through stages of decline after attaining Tuckman's performance stage. McGrew et al. (also indicated that groups decline in stages in a reverse Tuckman order; in other words, after attaining the performing stage, groups go through declining stages of de-norming, de-storming, and de-forming (McGrew et al., 1999).

De-norming. De-norming stage typifies old members return to earlier behaviors as experience members reassignment take place, new members not following team standards, new members bringing about new ideas and disruption on the team, and the redefining of roles by new members (McGrew et al., 1999). This stage also typifies experienced team members' reassignment to other high-priority projects (McGrew et al., 1999).

De-storming. De-storming is storming stage played inversely. This stage has characteristics such as gradual uneasiness, the decline in norming behavior, dwindling of group cohesion, increased interpersonal emotions, and resistance and confrontation behavior toward group influence, all of which result in conflicts and separation of membership (McGrew et al., 1999).

De-forming. The de-forming stage exhibits the opposite of what the norming

stage depicts (McGrew et al., 1999). Team members once again belligerently test boundaries, abandoning jobs or tasks that they do not want to do, isolating themselves from the rest of the team, and the rapidly declining in performance (McGrew et al., 1999).

As I explored leadership communication strategies in virtual teams to maximize performance, I expected Tuckman's small group developmental stages to be evident. The goal for every team is to arrive at the performing stage, because this is where the team is most effective, efficient, and productive. The performing stage is the stage where performance is maximum. A respectable knowledge of Tuckman's small group developmental stages andthe decline or decay stages helps leadership understand its team's current stage, and therefore allows leadership to apply the appropriate mediation strategies to enhance or maximize performance (McGrew et al., 1999; Tuckman, 1965; Tuckman & Jensen, 1977).

Teams in General

Teams are created because of the belief that the group is better and has a higher likelihood of success than an individual has (Cordes, 2017). In other words, teams perfors at a better and higher level than any one individual (Cordes, 2017). Certain factors affect the team's expectation of higher performance; factors such as good communication, trust, clear goals, and objectives, good leadership, team cohesion, etc. (Charlier, Stewart, Greco, & Reeves, 2016; Cordes, 2017; De Jong, Dirks, & Gillespie, 2016; Hoch & Dulebohn, 2017).

Virtual Teams

Virtual teams are becoming the custom in today's business world (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Fan et al., 2014; Yilmaz, 2016). Organizational use of virtual teams to meet business goals and objectives is a trend which started as early as in the 1980s, a trend that will continue into the far future as organizations continue to compete, grow, and strive to meet consumers' needs (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015). Some attribute the rise in virtual teams in organizations to the advancement in communication and information technology (Chang et al., 2014; Dissanayake, Zhang, & Gu, 2015; Marlow et al., 2017). Others believe that the advancement of communication and information technology is because of the rise in teams in organizations (Barnwell et al., 2014). The common and agreed-upon knowledge regarding virtual teams is that there is a rise in the use of virtual teams by various organizations (Charlier et al., 2016; Foster, Abbey, Callow, Zu, & Wilbon, 2015; Minas et al., 2014). Virtual teams are not going away anytime soon; rather they are here to remain (Ford, Piccolo, & Ford, 2017).

Forms of Virtual Teams

Organizations employ varying forms and degree of virtuality (Orhan, 2014), that is the degree to which team members and leaders employ technology to accomplish its daily objectives (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). The continuous advancement in technology has allowed for creativity in the employment of a form or another of virtuality at the workplace (Liao, 2017).

Exclusively virtual team. The exclusively virtual team is a virtual team without any face-to-face communication (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017; Morgan et al., 2014).

All communication takes place via the use of ICTs (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017).

Virtual, partially distributed team. The vPDT team is a virtual team in which some of the team members colocate; the other team members are not colocated but are dispersed all over the world (Eubanks, Palanski, Olabisi, Joinson, & Dove, 2016).

Communication takes place via the use of ICTs and face to face (Eubanks et al., 2016).

Slightly virtual teams. The slightly virtual team is similar to a traditional team with constant face-to-face communication but also works and communicates via the use of ICTs (Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015). Communication is mostly face to face (Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015).

Advantages of Virtual Teams

Some advantages come with operating virtual teams. The advantages that come with operating virtual teams is one of the reasons the organizational use of virtual teams continues to grow at such a rapid pace (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017). Organizations' continuous use of virtual teams is an expectation that will not decline anytime soon (Ford et al., 2017).

The use of virtual teams allows organizations to hire expertise from all over the world (Barnwell et al., 2014; Hoch & Kozlowski, 2014). Access to experts, irrespective of their location is a big incentive for organizations to engage in the operation of virtual teams (El-Sofany et al., 2014). Such organizations tend to enjoy increased innovation because of the procurement of expertise from all over the globe (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). Organizations can enjoy the benefit of delivering 24 hours services globally because of the ability to hire globally and have people working round the clock

(Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016). Organizations can increase their sphere of positive influence in the global community via virtualization (Hamersly & Land, 2015). Organizations tend to enjoy better international stand and increased productivity (Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015).

The use of virtual teams by organizations via the use of ICTs enables communication and collaboration across any distance, allowing the ability to easily and quickly reach a wider audience and increase performance via the use of experts regardless of location (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017; Lilian, 2014). The organization's focus moves away from the location of living unto the individual skills, expertise, and the ability to perform (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). Communication tool or ICTs enables the transfer and storage of large amount of data, information, and knowledge enabling the preservation, availability, and easy accessibility of knowledge (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017).

Organizations with virtual presence tend to also enjoy cultural diversity among team members (Chang et al., 2014). People tend to enjoy working with people from a diverse social-cultural background (Morgan et al., 2014). Diversity in an organization is essential to the organizational growth and the development of the virtual team (Hamersly & Land, 2015). Organizations that want to enjoy international presence and growth must learn to embrace diversity (Long, Doerer, & Stewart, 2015; Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Organizations help employees develop cultural competencies (Ford et al., 2017; Lilian, 2014) and cultural adaptation that is allowing changes in accordance with the custom, mannerism, and ways of another culture, take place (Chang et al., 2014). Developing

employees' cultural competencies and adaptation is beneficial to organizations, particularly to those organizations with a global or physical presence in other countries that are culturally different. Organizations with virtual presence tend to enjoy an increase in creativity because of cultural diversity (Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015). Reduced costs are a significant advantage that comes from having virtual teams; cost reduction can emerge from building cost, travel cost, relocation cost, office expenditures, operating cost, etc. (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Dumitrascu & Dumitrascu, 2015; Lilian, 2014). Organizations enjoy better operational efficacy (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). Virtuality affords employee flexibility in their work, schedule, time, and location of work; virtuality also affords organizations a higher level of flexibility (Fan et al., 2014; Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016; Lilian, 2014). Virtuality affords employees fewer complications in the reconciliation of work and family life as it enables them to work from home or on vacation (Rafnsdóttir & Stefánsson, 2014). Organizations that operate virtual teams also tend to enjoy a reduction in employee absenteeism and workplace accidents, while enjoining increase in employee productivity and employee retention (Dumitrașcu & Dumitrașcu, 2015). Virtual work enables speech-impaired individuals, individuals with complex communication needs, and disabled individuals to have employment because several of the means of communication such as email and instant messaging, in a virtual setting is ideal for disabled individuals (McNaughton, Rackensperger, Dorn, & Wilson, 2014).

Challenges of Virtual Teams

Virtual teams face greater challenges compared to other forms of teams such as

face-to-face teams (Morgan et al., 2014). Leading a virtual team is challenging; being on a virtual team is also challenging (Orhan, 2014). Virtual team leaders face challenges that are similar to those experienced by traditional teams leaders (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). Virtual team leaders also face challenges that are different to those experienced by traditional team leaders because virtual team leaders have to work through issues of isolation, communication difficulties, difficulties in building trust with and among team members (El-Sofany et al., 2014; Ford et al., 2017; Lilian, 2014). Virtual team leaders face several challenges in supervising and managing virtual teams (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017).

Virtual team members and leaders face distinct communication and collaboration challenges (Cordes, 2017). Communication or the lack thereof possess a big issue for virtual teams (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Lilian, 2014). Communication among virtual team members occurs mostly via the use of communication tools, or ICTs, which is both positive and negative in that it allows communication to take place but it can also constrain communication (Cordes, 2017). There is the difficulty that comes with the lack of verbal and physical cues in communication (Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015; van der Land, Schouten, Feldberg, Huysman, & van den Hooff, 2015). Computer-mediated communication can lead to a reduction in the sharing of information by team members, incomplete understanding of work process to achieve goals, and in essence, it can lead to failed communication (Cordes, 2017).

Some virtual teams already experience language differences as a challenge (Barnwell et al., 2014; El-Sofany et al., 2014); the constraints of the communication

technology do not make communication easier. It is easy to codify and communicate explicit knowledge such as processes, documents, and data, but it is not easy to codify or communicate tacit knowledge such as feelings, reasoning, and preferences (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). The use of a variety of ICTs and ICT supports such as the telephone may somewhat mitigate these communication difficulties (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). Klitmøller, Schneider, and Jonsen (2015) found that in the presence of language proficiency differences, social categorization occurs in a virtual team when team members make use of verbal media such as a telephone, but it does not occur with the use of written media such as emails. Even after operating virtual teams since the 1980s (Saafein & Shaykhian, 2014) and making use of computer-mediated communication (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Gibbs, Sivunen, & Boyraz, 2017), miscommunication remains a challenge for virtual team leaders and members (Dissanayake et al., 2015).

Development of trust among virtual team members and leaders continues to be a challenge for virtual teams (Dissanayake et al., 2015; Lilian, 2014). Virtual team leaders experience difficulties in building trust and great working relationship with and among employees (Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015). Trust is an important element of a successful team, whether virtual or otherwise (Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016). The unconventionality of virtual teams makes the building of trust within the team quite a challenge (Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016).

Team members' distance apart is a challenge for virtual teams (Barnwell et al., 2014; Hoch & Dulebohn, 2017). Distance apart can have a negative effect on communication. Timely communication can be the difference between a successful

virtual team project and a failed one (Barnwell et al., 2014). The presence of time zone differences among team members adds difficulties to the already challenging communication efforts of virtual teams (El-Sofany et al., 2014; Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015). Communication impediment is a factor for virtual teams with members in different time zones (Ford et al., 2017). The virtual team leader might not be able to have a meeting with all members present at the same time as daytime for some team members might mean night time for other team members (Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015). Time zone problem on the virtual team can make it difficult to take urgent and timely action on matters. Time zone issue can make it difficult to have a forum in the face of an urgent situation that requires a quick response.

Deficient or poor individual (task) virtuality is a major challenge for virtual employees (Han, Chae, Macko, Park, & Beyerlein, 2017; Orhan, 2014). An employee that exhibit poor individual virtuality tends to communicate less with other employees that are non-face-to-face because of the difficulties they experience using communication and information technology media (Orhan, 2014). Such employees with poor individual virtuality find it easier to forget about other employees that are non-face-to-face because of the difficulties such employees have with using communication technologies. The younger generations in the workplace had no problems engaging or connecting virtually with other team members; this is attributable to frequent use as well as the ease that the younger generation feels with the use of ICTs (Snyder, 2015).

Another major challenge that virtual teams face is those of cultural differences or diversity (Barnwell et al., 2014; Lilian, 2014). Cultural differences, when properly

managed can be a huge positive for the team, bringing out the individual best in the team, but when mismanaged, cultural differences can be the one factor that causes a virtual team to fail (Barnwell et al., 2014). Cultural differences could hinder communication quite a bit; especially in instances where team members are so culturally diverse such that various team members interpret the same message differently (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017; Lockwood, 2015; Morgan et al., 2014). There is also the issue of commitment, which can be quite different among virtual team members due to the cultural backgrounds (Morgan et al., 2014). Virtual team leaders experience difficulties in developing employees' cultural competencies (Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015).

Virtual team experience difficulties with conflict management (Dumitrașcu & Dumitrașcu, 2015). Difficulties with conflict management are heightened by cultural diversity and could lead to a dysfunctional team (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). A virtual team leader must properly handle, manage, mitigate, and preferably prevent such conflicts promptly to prevent the development of a dysfunctional team (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017).

Communication in Virtual Teams

Communication is a team process that enriches team accomplishments (Marlow et al., 2017). Organizations have team processes that they follow to achieve desired goals and objectives; communication is a process that makes the other organizational processes possible in that communication allows the development, accomplishment, and sustainment of other team processes, all of which enhance team performance (Marlow et al., 2017). Communication is organizations' building blocks for making processes work,

be it collaboration, decision making, etc. (Lilian, 2014).

Non-face-to-face communication is the main form of communication employed in virtual teams (Barnwell et al., 2014; Brotheridge, Neufeld, & Dyck, 2015; Fan et al., 2014). Non-face-to-face forms of communication have grown exponentially over the years as organizations have increased the use of non-face-to-face interaction in its daily business (Orhan, 2014). Virtual communication is difficult, demanding, and challenging; a comparison between virtual communication and face-to-face communication makes the difficulties of virtual communication more obvious (Lockwood, 2015).

Communication is one of the six essential competencies necessary to lead a successful virtual team (El-Sofany et al., 2014). Effective communication involves words, behavior, and context with immediate rich response (Morgan et al., 2014). This type of communication usually occurs in a face-to-face setting where the respondent can view the behavior, tone, as well as the countenance that accompanied the spoken words (Morgan et al., 2014). Face-to-face communication is better than non-face-to-face communication mostly because of the availability of better non-verbal (visual) and paraverbal cues (pitch, tone, and speed), it is less tasking both cognitively and physically, and it allows for social presence and socialization (Lilian, 2014).

Virtual team members tend to communicate via computer-mediated tools such as emails and intranet, which lack expressions of behavior, tone, and countenance (Snyder, 2015). Virtual team members have to be careful due to delay in response and sometimes the lack of response, to avoid the misinterpretation of the messages sent or received (Morgan et al., 2014). Virtual teams have reduced ability to be spontaneous or to access

other team members willy-nilly (Snyder, 2015). Virtual team members experience difficulties feeling engaged with teammates (Snyder, 2015). Video conferencing and teleconferencing can somewhat bridge the gap brought about by the lack of face-to-face communication on virtual teams (Morgan et al., 2014; Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Davidekova and Hvorecký (2017) encourage the use of face-to-face meetings during the early stage of tough projects.

Espinosa, Nan, and Carmel (2015) found that temporal distance among team members is not what necessarily impact team performance. Rather, team interactions and behaviors in terms of communication frequency, turn-taking, conveyance and convergence of information are what impact task completion time and quality within a geographically dispersed team (Espinosa, Nan, and Carmel, 2015). According to Morgan et al. (2014), essential elements of an effective virtual team includes regular communication and the communication of clear goals and objectives by both team leader and members. Frequent communication positively affects the conveyance and convergence of information; turn-taking positively impacts convergence of information; information conveyance positively impacts the timeframe for task completion; and information convergence positively impacts task quality (Espinosa et al., 2015). The absence of regular communication could result in confusion, mistakes, misapprehension, and frustration, (Morgan et al., 2014). Virtual team members' subjective perception of distance from one another significantly affected team collaboration (Siebdrat, Hoegl, & Ernst, 2014). Frequent communication and shared identity among virtual team members and leaders allow for perceived proximity, which mediates communication and

relationship quality (O'Leary, Wilson, & Metiu, 2014).

In other words, the assortment of communication technique does not necessarily affect team performance (Morgan et al., 2014); communication frequency, quality, and content are the important elements of effective virtual team communication (Marlow et al., 2017; Lilian, 2014). Morgan et al. (2014) found that the global virtual team achieved above target performance despite its limited range of communication methods. On the other hand, O'Leary Wilson, and Metiu (2014) believes that the use of various communication media as opposed to the use of one specific medium allows for improved communication performance. Ford, Piccolo, and Ford (2017) suggest that virtual team leaders should communicate with virtual team members electronically at a minimum of once a week and physically on hire and after that, annually. O'Leary et al., (2014) also found that the manner of communication with successful virtual teams epitomizes trustworthiness, accessibility, steadfastness, likability, and familiarity.

Contrary to popular findings, Chang et al. (2014) found a negative relationship between high communication and virtual team performance. This negative relationship could be due to communication becoming an annoyance and hindrance to work completion (Chang et al., 2014). Frequent or high-level communication in a virtual team could become over communication, which could become a problem instead of help (Marlow et al., 2017). Frequent or high-level communication in a virtual team could (a) hinder rather than enhance performance (b) lead to cognitive overload due to redundant distributed information and reduced performance (c) result in frustration due to constant interruption to process unneeded information (Marlow et al., 2017). High-level

communication could cause suspicion among team members; members could feel monitored and could lead to low job satisfaction (Chang et al., 2014).

Constant and incessant communication does not necessarily equate to good communication quality (Chang et al., 2014). Frequent team communication in a virtual team does not necessarily enhance or improve team performance (Marlow et al., 2017). In other words, if communication is clear, straightforward, and understood, it is pointless to repeat it daily (Chang et al., 2014). However, frequent level of communication is vital to growth, development, and functioning of a new team (Marlow et al., 2017). At the beginning stages of a new team, frequent communication helps to build trust among team members and team leader (Marlow et al., 2017). Communication is not an interruption for employees with low levels of trust because employees with low levels of trust see communication as important and essential to teams' success (Chang et al., 2014).

Communication quality is of high importance in enhancing virtual team performance (Marlow et al., 2017; Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Communication quality that is, the substance quality of communication is key in team communication.

Communication quality shows the clarity, efficiency, totality, fluency, and appropriateness of communication (González-Romá & Hernández, 2014).

Communication quality is also affected by factors such as team members and leader's (a) online visibility, (b) ICT know-how, (c) engagement, (d) ICT sound quality and environmental sound interferences (e) dynamics as a team (Snyder, 2015). The timeliness of the communication is important when considering communication quality (González-Romá & Hernández, 2014). If a team leader or member delivers information too early,

such information could be a distraction for team members, likewise, if a team leader or member delivers information too late, such information could be irrelevant at that time and affect performance (Chang et al., 2014; Marlow et al., 2017). High-quality information, irrespective of the frequency of communication is bound to lead to better performance (Marlow et al., 2017). Virtual team information overload that is too much low-value information affects team performance and efficiency in a negative way (Ellwart, Happ, Gurtner, & Rack, 2015). A virtual team leader should guide team communication to ensure balance to afford increase performance, and prevent work-related issues such as stress, burnout, and low performance (Avolio, Sosik, Kahai, & Baker, 2014).

Communication follow-up is another important aspect of communication that ensures communication quality (Marlow et al., 2017). The sender of the initial message ensures closure of the communication loop having ascertained that the intended receiver of the message got the message and interpreted it appropriately (Marlow et al., 2017). The sender of a face-to-face interaction controls the communication because of the availability of non-verbal cues, as the sender can tell if and how the receiver receives the message (Snyder, 2015). On the other hand, the receiver of a non-face-to-face interaction controls the communication because the sender is dependent on the receiver's response to determine if communication has taken place or not (Snyder, 2015).

According to Morgan et al., (2014) a mixed mode of communication can help to mitigate communication misinterpretation. ICTs vary in richness including the decibel level, clarity, visibility, reassessment ability, concurrency, etc., all of which have a heavy

impact on communication via ICTs (Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015). Snyder (2015) indicated that the simultaneous use of various communication technologies comes with various forms of challenges such as how to prioritize one form of communication over another. Virtual employees tend to multitask with multiple communication devices, such as answering phone calls while on a video conference meeting, to the point of lacking full engagement with any human at most points in time (Snyder, 2015). The improvement in ICTs has allowed for better accessibility and connectivity, which has led to employee information overload and greatly reduced the time for thinking, rumination, creativity, and response and resulting in employee disengagement (Snyder, 2015).

Another way to mitigate communication issues in a virtual setting is to have an online information board that will display team's expectations from team leader and members. Information displayed on the board can include how often each team member is to check emails; team members' expected response timeframe for all forms of communications including emails, texts, calls, and chats (Snyder, 2015). Mitigating potential communication issues in virtual teams should include a clear definition of what silence on emails, postings, texts, etc., means (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Silence could mean agreement, disagreement, neutrality, disengagement, or lack of comprehension, or a team member could assume that an email, post, or text as not directed specifically at him and does not respond (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Swift and effective communication play a pivotal role in the effective management of a virtual team (Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015).

Familiarity among team members ease the communication process and enhance

performance (Han et al., 2017; Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). It is advantageous and profitable to the organization to keep the same virtual team members together as much as possible (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). It is important for virtual team leaders to discourage and prevent the hiding of information and in and out groups within the team (Lilian, 2014). Team members knowledge of one another's' skills, competencies, and expertise can increase task and team cohesion (Xue, Yu, & Hock Hai, 2015). It can be beneficial to add each team members' skills, competencies, and expertise to the online information board allowing team members quick access the information.

Communication Tools in Virtual Teams

Virtual teams communicate mostly through ICTs (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Lilian, 2014). Communication tools affect communication as well as performance. Communication media or tools use in virtual teams includes but are not limited to phone, instant messenger, video conferencing systems, teleconferencing systems, intranet, email, text, chat, discussion forum, (Barnwell et al., 2014; Bartelt & Dennis, 2014; Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017; Morgan et al., 2014; O'Leary et al., 2014).

Due to the growth, development, and increase use of ICTs, even co-located teams make use of ICTs to communicate that is in addition to the face-to-face communications (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). The use of ICTs has become essential in the day-to-day operations at the workplace as the workplace develops more of the culture that Snyder (2015) refers to as digital; a culture in which the use of ICTs permeates the workplace. There are numerous forms of ICTs different levels of richness and synchronization capability (Minas et al., 2014).

There are so many ICTs in the marketplace; organizations need to strategically select the most appropriate, beneficial, and cost-effective ICTs to adopt (Cordes, 2017; Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). The use of appropriate ICTs allow for real-time, instants, or within seconds communication among team members, allowing for quick information sharing and collaboration among geographically dispersed team members and leaders (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). Information communication and technologies (ICTs) plays a role in how proximal virtual team members feel to one another (O'Leary et al., 2014).

The use of appropriate communication technology is essential to the success of any virtual team (Pangil & Chan, 2014; Snyder, 2015). Technology can either hinder or foster virtual team communication and performance (Gilson, Maynard, Young, Vartiainen, & Hakonen, 2015). The use of appropriate ICTs by an organization can lead to increase efficacy, profitability, cost-effectiveness, output, and individual, team, and organizational performance (Lilian, 2014; Morley, Cormican, & Folan, 2015). The appropriate ICTs helps to foster the development of trust among team members and team leader (Ford et al., 2017; Pangil & Chan, 2014). The use of appropriate ICTs increases the amount of communication among team members, which is likely to increase personality-based trust among team members, and the tendency to share knowledge (Pangil & Chan, 2014).

Virtual team members favored video conferencing to other ICTs because it is the closest form of the face-to-face available in a virtual environment and it provides an almost comparable level of information quality as face-to-face communication

(Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017; Snyder, 2015). It is important that ICTs is user-friendly as an unfriendly system only creates frustration, low performance, and lack of creativity in and among team members (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). Technology that does not work could bring a virtual team to a complete halt (Ford et al., 2017)

Employees have different levels of individual (task) virtuality (Orhan, 2014). Task virtuality is the degree of synchronization, contact, and communication that an employee needs with non-face-to-face workers to complete their work (Orhan, 2014). A leader cannot assume that his virtual team members have a high level of individual virtuality; the need to provide adequate training and resources on the use of ICTs; training should include instructions on things as simple as the expected file naming convention and how to find information on the intranet (Snyder, 2015).

Trust and Communication in Virtual Teams

Trust is a vital element in building a successful virtual team (Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016). Trust is more difficult to build in virtual teams compared to traditional teams (Breuer et al., 2016; El-Sofany et al., 2014), yet it is more crucial to have in a virtual environment compared to a traditional one (Lilian, 2014; Pozin, Nawi, & Romle, 2016). Some of the difficulties are possibly due to the lack of face-to-face contact; face-to-face contact allows team members' a visual view of one another's activities (Ford et al., 2017). Morgan et al. (2014) found that the global virtual team exhibit a higher level of trust and cooperation compared to other forms of team including face-to-face teams. Good quality communication nurtures trust among team members in ways such as allowing for conflict resolution and proper alignment of member perception and

expectations (Chang et al., 2014). Team trust enhance team communication (Breuer et al., 2016).

Ford et al. (2017) believe that for a virtual team to be successful, team members have to develop trust with one another, the team leader, and the organization; a strong trust foundation is vital to the success of the team. Pangil and Chan (2014) found that the three types of trust personality-based trust, institutionalized-based trust, cognitive-based trust and knowledge sharing behavior significantly influence virtual team effectiveness; personality-based trust, institutionalized-based trust affect knowledge sharing behavior. Topchyan (2015) found that integrity, loyalty, trust, and cooperation has significant impact or forecast knowledge sharing in virtual learning teams. He and Gunter (2015) found that trust influence knowledge sharing when team unity is present. Maintaining or sustaining trust after building it is also challenging for virtual teams (Breuer et al., 2016; Lilian, 2014). A team that starts with a high level of swift trust and continues unto lasting trust is likely to perform better than one that does not exhibit trust one way or another (Ford et al., 2017; Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015). A leader that is empathic, fair and sensitive to members' individual needs can gain team members trust (Ford et al., 2017; Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016).

Trust has a significant effect on individual and team performance in a virtual setting (Sarker, Ahuja, Sarker, & Kirkeby, 2011). Virtual team leader and members influence one another for higher performance greatly by the level of trust that exists among the team members as well as between the team leader and the team members (Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015). Effective virtual team leaders build trustworthy

relationships with team members (Ford et al., 2017). A person's high communication in a virtual setting is indicative of high performance if the person is trustworthy; on the other hand, a person's high communication in a virtual setting is indicative of poor performance if the person is not trustworthy (Sarker et al., 2011).

According to El-Sofany et al. (2014) communication and trust are the two most critical factors for virtual teams to excel. Communication and trust go hand-in-hand in virtual teams (Sarker et al., 2011). Virtual teams build trust via communication (Lilian, 2014). Team trust allows for open discussion of ideas and concerns; it allows for great sharing of information (Breuer et al., 2016). In other words, team trust allows for better and open communication (Breuer et al., 2016). Communication via the trust medium has a significant effect on performance (Sarker et al., 2011). Lack of communication or communication standards can result in distrust and unsuccessful communication (Cordes, 2017).

Team trust impact performance in that it gives team members the boldness to take risk; this behavior gives provision to team harmonization and collaboration (Breuer et al., 2016). Team trust positively impacts team performance (Breuer et al., 2016). The use of communication media in virtual teams allows for the documentation and the ability to reprocess information, allowing for some ease in the building of trust among team members and leader (Breuer et al., 2016). Communication media such as email allows for ease of storage as well as sharing of information by forwarding emails with the needed information (Breuer et al., 2016).

Building trust among team members in the early stage of the team is sometimes as

simple as a timely response to emails or requests; little things matter a lot at this stage of the team (Ford et al., 2017). Other ways to build trust among team members starts with the selection and training of appropriate team members; the provision of suitable technology and training as to appropriate use; the clear definition of member and leader roles, tasks, responsibilities, and expectations; and holding team members and leader accountable (Ford et al., 2017). It is important to recognize collective achievement (Ford et al., 2017).

Technology with video conferencing capability is a plus as it allows team members to see other team members and the team leader (Ford et al., 2017). Having a team leader with experience in virtual team leadership, who then receives additional training provided by the organization, helps to build trust among team members (Ford et al., 2017). Organizational trust can also come about by showing cultural consideration for team members; it could be something as simple as recognizing holidays from the team members' locations (Ford et al., 2017). A virtual team leader needs to develop cultural competence (Lilian, 2014).

According to Ford et al. (2017) having, the team leader physically visit with team members on entry and annually helps to build and maintain organizational trust. One of the ways a virtual team leader can achieve effective team communication is by quickly building and maintaining trust relationships with the team members while maintaining sensitivity to the cultural differences (Lilian, 2014). Chang et al. (2014) found a positive relationship between the following pairs, cultural adaptation and communication quality; cultural adaptation and member trust; cultural adaptation and virtual team performance;

and communication quality and interpersonal relationship. It is important for organizations to help employees develop cultural competency (Ford et al., 2017; Lilian, 2014). Selecting the appropriate team members is important to the building of trust and team's success; things to consider in the selection of virtual team members includes but is not limited to prior performances in virtual teams, self-motivation, knowledge, skills, abilities, team players, commitment, and integrity (Ford et al., 2017).

Leadership in Virtual Teams

Leading a virtual team is different from leading a traditional team; leading a virtual team requires more from a leader (Barnwell et al., 2014; Lilian, 2014; Schmidt, 2014). Though virtual team leaders experience many of the same challenges faced by traditional team leaders, virtual team leaders have to tackle those challenges using different strategies and tactics than those employed by traditional setting leaders (Saafein & Shaykhian, 2014). A virtual team leader must be able to communicate effectively and built trust with and among team members (El-Sofany et al., 2014).

A virtual team leader is imperative to the success of a virtual team (Dissanayake et al., 2015; Liao, 2017; Lilian, 2014; Pozin et al., 2016). Leadership is one of the six critical competencies necessary to have a successful virtual team (El-Sofany et al., 2014). Hanebuth (2015) found that the seven critical success elements of a virtual team are transferable to other virtual teams. The top three critical success elements of a virtual team are leadership, the culture of the organization, and ICT (Hanebuth, 2015). Leadership is a major element in teams' success (Eubanks et al., 2016; Liao, 2017). The notion and importance of leadership role in the success of virtual teams cannot be

overstated or over-emphasize.

A virtual team leader that wants to be successful must build trust with team members (Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016). According to Guinalíu and Jordán (2016), the higher the perceived level of a leader's physical attractiveness by team members, the more easily the leader can command team members' trust in the leader. However, transformational leadership style easily mitigates the attractiveness factor; when team members do not perceive a leader as physically attractive, the leader can command team members' trust by exhibiting a high level of transformational leadership style, particularly in the area of empathy and fairness (Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016). Guinalíu and Jordán (2016) found that the leadership style-mitigating factor is not true for transactional leadership style.

It is a leader's responsibility to influence his virtual team positively by guiding the content and flow of team members' communication (Barnwell et al., 2014). A virtual team leader, as well as virtual team members, have the power and ability to make use of one of many influence tactics such as pressure, ambiguity reduction (via the sharing of information, giving of examples, and accountability), legitimating, rational persuasion, personal appeal, and consultation, in influencing one another (Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015). In other words, the use of screen sharing to clarify request, use of smiley faces in communication, identifying a message as urgent and sending message in subject heading, tracking and storing message trend, electronic polling, etc., are all manners of exerting influence on others in a virtual team; influence is exerted upwardly, laterally, and downwardly (Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015).

Every team member has a responsibility of ensuring effective team communication within the team, but the virtual team leader has the overall responsibility for setting the communication standard, structure, expectations, and atmosphere within the team (Morgan et al., 2014). A leader should work with the team to set the standard on how and when communication is expected (Eubanks et al., 2016). A leader must communicate regularly with team member via video conference or telephone call (Barnwell et al., 2014). Regular communication can help prevent isolation on a virtual team. A virtual team leader must be able to manage adequately, the needs of the team as a whole as well as the individual need of team members (Barnwell et al., 2014). Computermediated communication such as email can discourage critical thinking on the part of team members while encouraging micromanagement on the part of team leaders (Brotheridge et al., 2015). Email is not necessarily user-friendly when it comes to profound discussions as email could unnecessarily extend the discussion over a long period (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Organizational leaders should be conversant with these potential issues and work to have a balance in communication such that a highperformance team emerges.

A virtual team leader needs to be able to provide the team members with well-defined goals (Barnwell et al., 2014). Well-defined goals and instructions are vital to the success of a virtual team. A virtual team leader should also provide team members with their clear individual and collective roles, responsibilities, tasks, and expectations (Ford et al., 2017). A virtual team leader should demonstrate tact in communication while getting information to team members. A virtual team leader should be able to smooth the

progress of communication among team members (Chang et al., 2014).

Virtual team leaders need to have a high level of sensitivity to team members' mindset, be culturally sensitive and competent, have robust social networking skills, be sensitive and acceptant of the virtual team concept (Lilian, 2014). Communication within the organization is one of the elements that shape organizational culture (Snyder, 2015). As a virtual team leader guides the flow of communication within a virtual team, the team leader needs to understand that he and the virtual team members are shaping the culture of the organizational (Snyder, 2015). Plavin-Masterman (2015) found that leadership style and personality influences virtual organizations' culture.

Team collaboration is important and impacts team performance; the goal is to have a high-quality collaboration among team members (Boughzala & de Vreede (2015). Virtual team leaders should encourage collaboration among team members; the more team members collaborate, the more practice and experience they acquire on effectively working with other virtual team members for greater productivity (Cordes, 2017). Collins, Chou, and Warner (2014) found that virtual team members were less willing to collaborate in the absence of good leadership and the right technology. A virtual team leader must provide dynamic motivation, strong and active leadership support, and appropriate ICTs for a successful collaborative effort to take place in a virtual team (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). A successful virtual team leader brings its team member together in a manner that encourages collaboration, friendship, cultural sensitivities and lessens conflicts (Barnwell et al., 2014; Ford et al., 2017). Chang et al. (2014) found a positive relationship between the following pairs, cultural adaptation and

communication quality; cultural adaptation and member trust; cultural adaptation and virtual team performance; and communication quality and interpersonal relationship.

Communication is vital to the success of a virtual team (Ziek & Smulowitz, 2014). A virtual team leader must be able to communicate effectively and built trust with and among team members (El-Sofany et al., 2014). Finally, virtual team leaders and virtual team members should be patient with one another and with the team as a whole; the more practice and experience the team members and leaders gain with one another, the work processes, collaborative processes, the proper use of ICTs, etc., the better and more productive the team becomes (Cordes, 2017).

Virtual Team Performance

Communication is vital to the success of a virtual team (Ziek & Smulowitz, 2014). According to Morgan et al. (2014), the absence of regular and consistent communication within a global virtual team is the main factor in the lack of high level of team performance and cooperation. Leaders and team members must practice consistent, routine communication to enhance team performance (Cordes, 2017; Morgan et al., 2014). Barnwell et al. (2014) found that many factors generalizable into two broad categories, positive and negative, influence virtual team's performance. Team members exhibit influence on one another in a manner that impacts their performance (Sarker et al., 2011). A team that incorporates positivity in its communication experiences increases information sharing and team performance (Yilmaz, 2016). In other words, the use of assent by team members allow other team members to perform more and feel comfortable to share more information that could lead to better performance. Yilmaz

(2016) also noted that negative collaborators tend to produce greater group performance.

Teamwork has a positive effect on team performance (Cordes, 2017). A team with a clear, shared vision is usually able to work successfully towards a common goal (Cordes, 2017; Ziek & Smulowitz, 2014). Virtual team members and leaders need to engage in appropriate training including training on the use of ICTs to enhance performance (Morley et al., 2015). Virtual team leaders should not take it for granted that virtual team members are conversant with the use of the available ICTs (Cordes, 2017; Morley et al., 2015). Every team member and leader should receive training on ICTs onboarding, at intervals determined by the organization, and at the introduction of a new system (Cordes, 2017).

A team leader's social capital and the team members' intellectual capital significantly affect team performance. The team leader's intellectual capital and the team members' social capital does not affect team performance (Dissanayake et al., 2015). Therefore, it is important to align team leaders and members' social and intellectual capital appropriately within the team to influence team's performance in a significant manner (Dissanayake et al., 2015).

Transition

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive single case study is to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. Organizations have increased their level of virtuality (Orhan, 2014). It has become common practice for organizations to make use of virtual teams (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Fan et al., 2014; Yilmaz, 2016). In spite of the growth in the use of virtual

teams, some leaders lack communication strategies to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. The conceptual framework for this study is Tuckman's small group developmental model constructed in 1965 by Bruce Tuckman (Tuckman, 1965). Section 1 also includes a look at the implication of this study results for social change as well as a thorough review of the professional and academic literature.

Section 2 includes information on the purpose of this qualitative descriptive single case study, the role of researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instrument, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, reliability, and validity of the study. Section 3 will include information on the findings, tying of the findings to the conceptual framework, and the research question. There will also be information on the application of the findings to professional practice, the findings implication for social change, recommendations for action, recommendation for further research, and reflections. Section 3 will also conclude the write up on this study.

Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. A descriptive case study design was appropriate in that its use enables an in-depth study of lived experiences with current applicability in actual life (Fusch & Fusch, 2015). Section 2 is composed of information on the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, reliability, and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the communication strategies that leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. The targeted population was four successful leaders from a multinational accounting firm whose headquarters are in the northeastern region of the United States. The implications for positive social change include the potential to provide virtual team leaders with communication strategies for managing virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. This study could also result in virtual team members having a better work environment where communication is regular, timely, positive, and precise, which could lead to higher job satisfaction. The enhanced teams' performances, better work environments, and higher job satisfaction could benefit the organization, virtual team leaders, virtual team members, their families, and their communities.

Role of the Researcher

The researcher is the primary data collection instrument in a qualitative study (Cope, 2014; Yin, 2014). I was the primary data collection instrument for this descriptive case study. I collected data via semistructured interviews of participants (see Appendix A). Researchers use semistructured interviews to obtain information from participants regarding their lived experiences and perceptions (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). The interview questions were open-ended to allow participants the liberty of expressing their experiences in detail and with minimum influence from the researcher (Powell, Hughes-Scholes, Smith, & Sharman, 2014).

The interview questions were rooted in the research question, allowing for congruency between the research question and the interview questions (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I increased the data quality that I obtained from the interview by ensuring the reliability of the interview questions (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). In other words, the interview questions aligned with the research question, the interview questions were conversational, and the interview questions went through several reviews (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I conducted FaceTime or phone interviews based on participants' availability and preferences. I observed verbal and nonverbal communication as applicable, optimizing the communication (McIntosh & Morse, 2015).

Qualitative research is open to researcher's bias that could easily influence the result of the study (Roulston & Shelton, 2015); the need to mitigate the possibilities of such biases (Cope, 2014). Yin (2014) emphasized the importance of a researcher discussing and avoiding individual bias when conducting a study. I like and believe in the

idea of virtual teams. I was aware of my predisposition to support the concept of virtual teams. The knowledge of my predisposition enabled me to avoid this personal bias. I knew not to let my personal interest influence the validity and reliability of this study; I knew to express the voice of the participants and not mine in this study (Cope, 2014).

I made use of an interview protocol (see Appendix C). Using the appropriate interview protocol helps to enhance the volume and quality of the information a researcher gathers; the use of interview protocol helps to mitigate bias (Benia, Hauck-Filho, Dillenburg, & Stein, 2015). I completed the protecting human research participants training by the National Institutes of Health Office of Extramural Research and received the research reviewer approval and institutional review board (IRB) approval before proceeding with this study.

I had four prospective study participants. I was not in a working relationship with any of them; however, one of the prospective participants was my brother, who was a professional with a good understanding of the research process. Before data collection took place, I assured participants of confidentiality. I gave each participant an informed consent letter to sign. I treated each participant ethically and with respect; I abided by The Belmont Report of ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2016).

Participants

Participants were four successful virtual team leaders from a multinational accounting firm. Participants met the following criteria: (a) current employment with organization XYZ; (b) ability to speak the English language; (c) have at least 1 year of

experience as a virtual team leader; (d) have at least 1 year of experience in their current position, which must include the role of virtual team leader; and (e) be a successful virtual team leader based on organization XYZ's standard. To protect participants' identity and ensure confidentiality, I used pseudonyms for the name of the organization (XYZ) and participants (XYZ1 to XYZ4). Researchers use pseudonyms in studies to protect participants' identity (Lunnay, Borlagdan, McNaughton, & Ward, 2015).

I used a purposeful and snowball sampling method to select participants. Purposeful sampling is the intentional selection of study participants based on predetermined criteria and allowing for an in-depth study of the phenomenon of interest (Palinkas et al., 2015). Snowball sampling is a situation where participants recommend other people who meet the participant criteria (Robinson, 2014). Hence, the reason for the selection of a successful virtual team leader XYZ1 from organization XYZ and the request for him to identify other successful virtual team leaders within the organization. The next step was the selection of three other successful virtual team leaders, XYZ2, XYZ3, and XYZ4 from organization XYZ based on virtual team leader XYZ1's recommendation and my selection criteria. Researchers use small sample size in qualitative studies, allowing for an in-depth study of the phenomenon at hand (Robinson, 2014). Yin (2014) recommended the use of multiple sources of evidence in a case study to increase the quality, accuracy, and confidence in the study findings.

I sent prospective participants, via email, a consent form that included the invitation to participate in the study (See Appendix B). Participants understood to ask any questions that they had regarding the study at the time of and throughout the study. I

established a working relationship with participants via email and or phone communication by providing a brief status report on as needed basis. Encouraging the participants to feel free to email or call me with any questions they might have regarding the study is a part of the process of establishing a working relationship with participants. The expression of appreciation to participants for their patience and contribution to the study is vital. It is essential and professional to respond to participants' emails or phone calls within 48 hours of receipt, even if the response is just to let participants know of the intention to get back with them regarding their questions or concerns.

This study involved the conduction of FaceTime or phone interviews, and the review of available archival company documents on communication tools, plans, and or strategies, and performance improvement plans to demonstrate methodological triangulation. This study involved the recording of the interviews as participants agreed to the recording. It is essential to store all documents securely for five years on my password-protected laptop and on a flash drive, which I have stored in a secure cabinet. The secure cabinet likewise houses all the recordings. The plan is to destroy of all raw data related to this study five years after completion of the study.

Research Method and Design

It is important to make use of the appropriate research method and design when conducting a study (Anderson, 2010; Yin, 2014). The chosen research method and design for this study is a qualitative descriptive case study. The below subsections on research method and research design give further explanation and rationale as to the use of a qualitative descriptive case study method and design in this study.

Research Method

Researchers usually use one of three research methods, qualitative, quantitative, and the mixed methods (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Researchers employ the use of qualitative research method to gather information and study phenomena on the experiences and perception of participants (Zhang, 2014). In other words, qualitative research method is ideal for the exploration, finding, and understanding of lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994). Researchers use qualitative research method to answers questions such as what, why, and how (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). The focus of this study is to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance; the qualitative method is the appropriate method for this study.

A quantitative method was not employed in this study because the primary focus of a quantitative study is to test for hypothesis (Hesse-Biber, 2016), which is not the intent of this study. Researchers use quantitative methods to test theories (Park & Park, 2016). The quantitative research method is best for the provision of answers to closed-ended questions such as who, where, how many, and how much (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013).

A mixed study is the use of the qualitative and quantitative method in a study (Annansingh & Howell, 2016). Researchers use mixed method of research to add depth and breadth to a study (Hesse-Biber, 2016). In a mixed method, researchers enjoy the benefits of both a qualitative and quantitative method, allowing for a rich study

(Annansingh & Howell, 2016). I did not utilize the mixed method of research in this study because of the quantitative component which is not appropriate for this study.

Research Design

A descriptive case study design is the chosen and most appropriate for this study. Researchers can choose to conduct descriptive, exploratory, or explanatory case study (Yin, 2014). The case study design is use to answer how, what, or why questions (Yin, 2014). Researchers utilize a case study to gain an understanding of real life event as experienced by or observed in participants in a real world setting (Amerson, 2011) and to identify operational links over time. A descriptive case study design makes provision for an in-depth research of participants' lived experience with contemporary relevance in real life (Fusch & Fusch, 2015). A researcher can choose to look at a single or multiple case study based on the need of the study (Lindstedt & Lombardo, 2016).

I had looked into other qualitative designs such as phenomenology, ethnography, grounded theory, and narrative before I chose the descriptive case study design.

Researchers use phenomenology designs when they need to understand the similitude of several people's lived experiences of a common experience or event (Moustakas, 1994), which is not the focus for this study. The goal for this study is to explore communication strategies team leaders' use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. Researchers use ethnography designs to focus on group cultures (Morse, 2016), which is not the objective for this study. Researchers use grounded theory designs to give attention to the creation of a theory based on the study findings (Kruth, 2015), which is not the purpose for this study. Researchers use narrative designs to concentrate

on the identification and exploration of participants' lived stories (Barbour, Doshi, & Hernández, 2015), which is not the intent for this study.

Population and Sampling

The target population for this descriptive case study is the virtual team leaders of a multinational accounting firm whose headquarter is in the Northeastern region of the United States of America. I selected participants from a branch office, which is in the Western region of the United States of America by using both purposeful and snowballing sampling technique. I selected the first participant (participant XYZ1) based on the study criteria. Purposeful sampling method involves the selection of participants based on predetermined conditions that enable a researcher to explore the phenomenon of interest as lived and experienced by the study participants (Palinkas et al., 2015). I selected the other three participants (participant XYZ2, XYZ3, and XYZ4) based on the referral of participant XYZ1. Researchers use snowball sampling method of selection to gain access to otherwise hard to reach participants (Waters, 2015).

I carefully selected all participants to ensure proper alignment with the research question, which explores the communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. I used the following criteria to select participants: (a) participant must have current employment with organization XYZ, (b) participant must be able to speak the English language, (c) participant must have at least one year of experience as a virtual team leader, (d) participant must have at least one year of experience in current position, which must include the role of virtual team leader, and (e) participant must be a successful virtual team leader based on organization XYZ's

standard. The use of criteria in the selection of study participant is essential to having the right participants with needed experience in the study subject (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014). Gender and age were not a factor in this selection of participants.

Participants included two adult males and two adult females.

A small sample size is common in qualitative studies (Robinson, 2014). The small sample size enables a researcher to do an in-depth study of a specific phenomenon based on the lived experience of participants (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014).

Complementing the small sample size is my review of organization XYZ's archival documents such as communication tools, plans, and or strategies, and performance improvement plans. The use of multiple sources of verification allows for the testing of study validity and, in essence, demonstrates methodological triangulation (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Blythe, & Neville, 2014).

I conducted FaceTime or phone interviews based on the participants' availability and preference. I created an atmosphere where the participants felt comfortable enough to share freely and truthfully by reminding participants of the confidentiality of the whole process. I reached data saturation through participant interviews, organizational document reviews, and member checking. Data saturation is that state a researcher gets to during a study; the study is replicable and does not have new data or thematic codes that emerge from interviews, document reviews, and or observations (Fusch & Ness, 2015). In other words, when the data is saturated, new data does not yield new information (Morse, Lowery, & Steury, 2014). It is important to achieve data saturation in a qualitative study as data saturation shows rigor (Morse, 2015). Researchers use data

saturation to level the number of participants or interviews (Fusch & Ness, 2015). The aim is to have data that is rich in depth and breadth, resulting in the fullness of credible information that has gone through appropriate rigor and validation process (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Roy, Zvonkovic, Goldberg, Sharp, & LaRossa, 2015).

Ethical Research

The primary goal of research ethics is to ensure that researchers treat participants ethically and respectfully (Parsons, Abbott, McKnight, & Davies, 2015). To ensure the ethical treatment of participants, I abided by the Belmont ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2016) and treated participants ethically and respectfully. I provided participants with an informed consent form via email (see Appendix B). I made participants aware that they can withdraw from the study at any point in time.

I kept participants and their organization confidential by making use of pseudonyms to identify them. It is common for researchers to use pseudonyms in studies to protect participants' identity (Lahman, 2015; Lunnay, 2015). In line with protecting participants' identity and ensuring confidentiality, I have stored all documents securely on a password-protected laptop. I have stored the audiotape recorder, flash drive, and handwritten notes in a secured cabinet. It is important to destroy all raw data related to this study five years after the completion of the study.

I made participants aware via the informed consent form that there is no payment, gift, or reimbursements for participants. However, I will provide participants with a summary of the study results and recommendations that may provide further

communication strategies for managing virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. I did not interview participants before obtaining Walden University Institutional Review Board's (IRB) approval, approval number 10-06-17-0493301

Data Collection Instruments

I am the researcher. I was the primary data collection instrument for this study as described by Cope (2014) and Yin (2014). The instrument of choice for the gathering of data is semistructured interviews (see Appendix A) and the review of available archival company documents on communication tools, plans, and strategies, as well as performance improvement plans. Researchers make use of interviews as a data collection instrument (Robinson, 2014). The use of a semistructured interview and the review of archival documents as data collection tools are not new to case study research (Yin, 2014).

The semistructured interview instrument has seven open-ended questions (see Appendix A) which are grounded in the research question. The seven open-ended questions are conversational and help participants share their experiences. Interviews help participants to share their experiences freely (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). I will conduct the semistructured interview via Skype or in person. I audio recorded the interviews as participants' agreed to the recordings. I made use of two forms of audio recorders to safeguard against malfunctions of a recorder. I reviewed available archival company documents on communication tools, plans, and or strategies, and performance improvement plans.

I made use of the same interview guide for all participants, allowing for consistency, reliability, and validity of the semistructured interviews (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). I made use of member checking which allows for data validation (Harvey, 2015). Member checking allows participants the opportunity to validate and or clarify researcher's transcript and or data interpretation of the interview (Harvey, 2015). I achieved data reliability and validity via methodological triangulation making use of interview data and archival company document data. Researchers make use of methodological triangulation to achieve data reliability, saturation, and validity (Carter et al., 2014; Fusch & Ness, 2015).

Data Collection Technique

Researchers make use of interview to collect data (Robinson, 2014). I made use of semistructured interviews for data collection using an interview protocol (see Appendix C). I scheduled the interview date and time based on the agreement between participants and myself. I obtained informed consent from each participant via email before interviewing participants (see Appendix B). I conducted the interviews either via FaceTime or phone based on participants' availability and preference. The open-ended question interviews ran between 15 to 30 minutes.

I audio recorded the interview to allow for a reliable and accurate transcribing of the interview. I made use of two forms of recording device to ensure the reliability of recording device. I used NVivo software to transcribe the data. I emailed a summarization of the transcribed and synthesized interview responses to participants for member checking to allow for accuracy, credibility, validity, and appropriate

interpretation of interview data (Cope, 2014; Harvey, 2015). I took notes on nonverbal expressions as well as key information or information that I wished to follow up. I used NVivo software to sort the transcribed and member-checked data into codes and themes.

Researchers use interviews to encourage confidential disclosure of participants' experiences with little or no influence from researchers (Reczek, 2014). In other words, researchers use interviews to allow participants to express themselves freely in their words with minimal influence from researchers. The use of interviews enables researchers to monitor participants' verbal and nonverbal cues during the interview process (Lilian, 2014; Reczek, 2014). Researchers can keep participants from wandering off the subjects; researchers can keep participants focus on the issue at hand (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). A disadvantage of interviews is the possible high financial cost that could result from traveling from place to place to conduct a face-to-face interview (Janghorban, Roudsari, & Taghipour, 2014). The quality of interview data is dependent on the researcher's ability to conduct a proper interview (Yin, 2014). Manually transcribing the interview data could be a monumental task (Zamawe, 2015). The sample size is usually small when interviews are involved (Robinson, 2014). The small sample size allows each participant to have a visible voice, as well as allows the researcher to do an in-depth analysis of the of each participants' contribution (Robinson, 2014).

I reviewed available archival company documents on communication tools, plans, and or strategies, and performance improvement plans to demonstrate methodological triangulation. The review of archival company document could be useful and productive; the review could also turn out to be of no relevance to the issue under study (Yin, 2014).

The researcher bears the responsibility of making sure the archival documents under review are relevant, accurate, and produced under appropriate conditions (Yin, 2014).

I did not do a pilot study, but I participated in expert validation. A pilot study allows for a *review* of the practicability of the method planned for use in the real study, which is usually on a larger scale (Doody & Doody, 2015; Eldridge et al., 2016). It is not my goal to conduct a larger scale study. A researcher uses a pilot case study to develop, assess, and improve the real study questions (Yin, 2014). My committee vetted my research questions based on their knowledge and expertise. This allows for (a) a *review* of the practicability of the method planned for use in the real study, and (b) the development, assessment, and improvement of the real study questions. Most of the times pilot studies are done with a quantitative study (Doody & Doody, 2015) and are sometimes used to generate hypotheses (Bäckryd, Ghafouri, Carlsson, Olausson, & Gerdle, 2015). I did not test for hypotheses in this study.

Data Organization Technique

Data organization is a major key to the smooth flow and management of data in qualitative research (Yin, 2014). Researchers use pseudonyms to disguise participants' identities as a way to achieve and maintain participants' confidentiality (Lahman et al., 2015). One of the ways I stayed organized while keeping the study participants' identities confidential is with the use of alphanumeric codes (XYZ1 to XYY4) to identify participants. I audiotaped each interview; I identified participants by their code name at the beginning of each audiotaping process. I stored each participants' transcribed interview in Microsoft Word document, which I stored in folders by the participants'

code names. I stored the individual participants' folders in a parent folder that I labeled with the code name XYZ.

I coded data and explored for themes with the use of NVivo software. NVivo software is a popular and useful qualitative data management software (Sotiriadou, Brouwers, & Le, 2014). I have stored all documents securely on a password-protected laptop. I have stored the audiotape recorder, flash drive, and handwritten notes in a secured cabinet. I will destroy all raw data related to this study 5 years after the completion of the study.

Data Analysis

Qualitative research generates a large amount of word-based data that can be arduous to analyze manually (Salmona & Kaczynski, 2016). This study will involve the use of Yin's (2014) five steps method of data analysis that is the compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding of data. Researchers make use of various forms of qualitative data management software (Sotiriadou et al., 2014). I made use of NVivo, a qualitative data management software (Zamawe, 2015) to organize, code, and analyze my study data. Researchers make use of Nvivo to allows for ease in data organization, coding, formation of themes, and analysis; the manner of organization allowed by Nvivo enables the researcher ease in exhibiting consistency, transparency, and rigor with the word-base data (Houghton, Murphy, Shaw, & Casey, 2015; Sotiriadou et al., 2014).

I first transcribed all interview data including my handwritten notes using Microsoft Word document (or NVivo software). I made use of member checking, the

process of validating transcription and or interpretations with participants (Harvey, 2015) to ensure data accuracy, validity, and saturation. I then imported the transcribed and synthesized data including the updates I obtained during member checking into NVivo software for coding, the formation of themes, and analysis. Analyzing the data imported into the NVivo software take place in four stages, comprehension, synthesizing, theorizing, and recontextualizing (Houghton et al., 2015).

Methodological triangulation is the use of multiple sources of verification to test the validity of the study and to allow for data saturation (Carter et al., 2014; Fusch & Ness, 2015). I made use of methodological triangulation in this study by the use of indepth participants' interviews, participants' observation during the interviews, and company archival document reviews. I correlated the concepts that emerge out of my analysis with the current literature and Tuckman's small group developmental model.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Qualitative research is often condemned for not exhibiting rigor, credibility, transparency, and for being loaded with researcher's bias (Noble & Smith, 2015). Reliability is the degree to which a researcher can replicate a study and obtain similar results (Kihn & Ihantola, 2015). Consistency plays a big part in a study's reliability (Noble & Smith, 2015). A study that is reliable should show dependability (Elo et al., 2014).

Dependability has to do with the thorough documentation of a study's process such that other researchers can easily trace the study (Elo et al., 2014; Kihn & Ihantola,

2015). I made use of an interview protocol (see Appendix C) to allow for consistency and dependability in the research process. Dependability is also the constancy of data over time and under various situation (Elo et al., 2014); I gave detailed information on the criteria used to select participants to allow for easy assessment of transferability (Elo et al., 2014). I also made use of member checking and methodological triangulation to allow for a reliable result and saturation of data (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

Validity

Validity is the degree to which the results of a study accurately demonstrate the data (Kihn & Ihantola, 2015). Researchers can show validity through credibility, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Kihn & Ihantola, 2015; Noble & Smith, 2015).

The credibility of a study refers to how well the study data reflects the participants' views as well as answer the research question (Cope, 2014; Elo et al., 2014). Credibility is established right from data collect (Elo et al., 2014). To ensure credibility, researchers should make use of appropriate means of data collection (Elo et al., 2014). To support credibility, I made use of in-depth semistructured interviews as my data collection instrument. I had participants review a summary of the transcribed, synthesized interview data for accuracy and confirmation that is I made use of member checking. I also reviewed archival company documents.

Transferability is the degree to which people can generalize or transfer the study findings to other settings (Cope, 2014; Kihn & Ihantola, 2015). Cope (2014) deem it necessary for researchers to provide adequate information on their study so that others

can easily determine the transferability of the findings. I provided detail, and thorough information on the study participants, selection criteria, interview protocol, data collection process, and the study result in an unbiased manner.

Confirmability is the extent to which the researcher can show the study results as a true reflection of the participants' experience (Cope, 2014; Hays, Wood, Dahl, & Kirk-Jenkins, 2016). I have maintained in my study a trail of proofs that links data collection and analysis with the results of the study. Participants had the opportunity to review a summarization of interview transcripts and synthesis. I made use of methodological triangulation and NVivo software for data analysis. I have provided detailed and thorough information on the various sections of the study in an unbiased manner.

Data saturation is the point in a study where no new information emerges from gathering more data on the study (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Researchers observe data saturation as that point at which the study is replicable, and further exploration does not produce new information (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Data saturation is vital to the show of rigor in a qualitative study (Morse, 2015).

Researchers view data saturation in terms of richness and thickness (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Researchers consider data rich when it is of high quality; thick data, on the other hand, is data that is of high quantity (Fusch & Ness, 2015). The goal is to have data that is both rich and thick, resulting in the extensiveness of credible information that has gone through proper rigor and validation process (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Roy, Zvonkovic, Goldberg, Sharp, & LaRossa, 2015). I achieved data saturation by (a) conducting indepth semistructured interviews with participants, (b) making use of member checking

for interview transcript and synthesis, and (c) making use of methodological triangulation by reviewing archival company documents. These methods should ensure that the data is both rich and thick for this study.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive single case study is to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. Participants were four successful virtual team leaders from a multinational accounting firm. I treated participants ethically and respectfully. I conducted FaceTime or phone semistructured interviews based on participants' availability and preference and reviewed available archival company documents on communication tools, plans, and or strategies, and performance improvement plans. I made use of NVivo software to organize, manage, code, and analyze data.

Section 3 will include information on the findings, tying of the findings to the conceptual framework, and the research question. There will also be information on the application of the findings to professional practice, the findings implication for social change, recommendations for action, recommendation for further research, and reflections. Section 3 will also conclude the write up on this study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. The research question that guided this study was: What communication strategies do leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance? The conduction of semistructured interviews of four virtual team leaders of a multinational accounting firm whose headquarters is in the northeastern region of the United States to gather data and answer the research question resulted in five main thematic findings. These themes include (a) time synchronization, (b) face-toface interaction, (c) continuous training, (d) communication tools and frequency, and (e) leadership training and development. The face-to-face theme has two subthemes, building of relationships and cultural competence. The review of archival company records showed correlation with the interview data. An analysis of the findings showed that leadership training and development, the continuous training of virtual team members, and face-to-face interaction of virtual team leaders with the virtual team's members are critical in the successful leading of virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. The conceptual framework that guided this study was Tuckman's small group developmental model (Tuckman, 1965).

Presentation of the Findings

The research question that guided this study was as follows: What communication strategies do leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team

performance? Based on the research question, data analysis of participants' interviews, and archival document reviews, five themes emerged that relate to the communication strategies that leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. These themes were (a) time synchronization, (b) face-to-face interaction, (c) continuous training, (d) communication tools and frequency, and (e) leadership training and development. The face-to-face theme has two subthemes, building of relationship and cultural competence.

Emergent Theme 1: Time Synchronization

Some of the difficulties that virtual teams continue to experience are those which comes about as a result of time zone differences among team members (Crayon, Patton, Gyurcsak, & Steigerwald, 2017; Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015). The greater the time zone differences, the more difficult it is to synchronize communication (Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015). It becomes almost impossible to have real-time communication (Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015). Organization XYZ is a multinational accounting firm headquartered in the United States (hereafter referred to as the local team) with virtual teams all over the world including Argentina, India, the Philippines, and various locations in the United States. Organization XYZ (the local team) experienced communication difficulties with the India virtual team due to a large time zone difference. Organization XYZ has only one working hour of possible real-time communication daily with the India team; the India team ends the workday an hour after organization XYZ begins the workday. For instance, participants XYZ3 noted the following:

XYZ3: so I don't know what it is, and for us too, cuz we're located in xxx, the time difference between xxx and India is like ridiculous, so it doesn't help that they'll ask me and call at like 10 pm and that's not ... Or like midnight and that's not very, that's not reasonable you know... Right, and sometimes they have one question and then because they have one question they will stop their entire work until they get that question answered, but I'm sleeping during that time, right, that they're working. 12 hours later I look in my inbox, "Oh, they have a question." I'll answer it, send it back to them, and then it'll be another 12 hours until they look at it again... So that, you know, it's like very, it's a very delayed response, you know what I mean. So, it's just, I mean this is only with the Indian team mostly, I would say, um cuz the time difference is way too large.

Communicating virtually is difficult in itself, and adding the problem of a time zone difference makes communication more difficult (El-Sofany et al., 2014; Wadsworth & Blanchard, 2015). Having virtual teams with large time zone differences creates difficulties in a number of ways, including the possibility of not being able to have all team members available at the same time for team meetings or quick decisions (Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015). Time zone issues can make it difficult to have a forum and to take timely action on urgent matters. One of organization XYZ's strategy to resolve the time zone issue was to expand its virtual team usage to other areas with favorable time zones. One of the virtual teams that came about due to the expansion was the Argentina team. The Argentina team appears to have quickly moved through the various stages of Tuckman's small group developmental model and was at the time of the

study, at the performing stage. The Indian team, at the time of the study appeared to continue to circle through various stages in no particular order including forming, storming, norming, de-norming, de-storming, and de-forming. Member checking did not yield any additional information for Theme 1. The review of archival document showed efforts of being proactive in communicating with the virtual teams and keeping them involved at every stage of a project but the time difference still has a big impact on overall effectiveness. The larger the time difference, the more difficult it is for the virtual teams to communicate in real time. The findings from Theme 1 aligned with the existing body of knowledge and the conceptual framework (Tuckman's small group developmental model) for this study.

Emergent Theme 2: Face-to-Face Interaction

Building of relationship. Virtual team leaders struggle with building trust and effective working relationship with and among employees (Alsharo, Gregg, & Ramirez, 2017; Collins et al., 2017). The unconventionality of virtual teams makes the building of relationships with virtual team members quite the challenge (Alsharo et al., 2017). A great working relationship among team members allows for greater productivity (Han et al., 2017; Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Organization XYZ leadership (that is the local team) struggled with developing a working relationship with the virtual team members. Participants pointed out that the relationship the local team had with the virtual team members were impersonal and remote. Participant XYZ compared the relationship to a relationship between man and robot. One of the responsibilities of a leader is to influence his virtual team members in a positive manner by guiding the content and flow of team

members' communication (Barnwell et al., 2014). It is easier and more feasible to exhibit positive influence on someone with whom one has a relationship than it is to exhibit influence on a robot.

Organization XYZ leadership initiated a face-to-face interaction between the local team and the virtual teams, as a way to address the issue of ineffective building of working relationship between the local team and the virtual team members. Organization XYZ leadership sent members of the local team to the various virtual team sites to work from those sites and with the virtual team members for 3 months. Organization XYZ leadership also brought out to the headquarter site, members of the virtual teams from various sites to work with the local team for about six weeks. Participant XYZ1 noted as follow:

Then the fact that you are now with the person, they know you, they feel you, they can shake your hands, you have lunch together. It's like you are building that relationship with them, so when you send them work, they are like oh I know this guy, Mr. XYZ1, he is my friend, right, we went hiking together, we went to lunch together. So they can take whatever you give to them more personal and kind of, like they are helping you with work

Familiarity among team members facilitate the communication process and consequently enhance performance (Han et al., 2017; Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017).

Cultural competence. The face-to-face interaction did not only allow the local team to develop a better working relationship with the virtual teams' members, but it also allowed the local team to have a better understanding of the various culture of the virtual

teams' members. The face-to-face interaction also allowed the virtual team's members to have a better understanding of the local team's culture. This enables the development of cultural competency by both the local team members and the virtual teams' members. It is important for organizations to help employees develop cultural competency (Collins et al., 2017; Crayon et al., 2017; Ford et al., 2017; Lilian, 2014). Helping employees develop cultural competency is beneficial to the organizations as a whole. Cultural competence by team members is very important in the management of virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. Cultural competence affect team in several aspects including conflict, collaboration, trust, relationship, and teamwork. (Collins et al., 2017). Cultural adaptation that is allowing changes in accordance with the custom, mannerism, and ways of another culture, should be encouraged as needed to allow for enhanced performance (Chang et al., 2014).

The face-to-face experience was positive for organization XYZ. Organization XYZ's local team and virtual team members were able to build better working relationships, understand confusing common body languages that were regularly exhibited mostly by the India team members, and better understand the culture of the local and virtual team members. Member checking did not yield any additional information for Theme 2. The review of archival document showed that organization XYZ leadership have strategies in place such as standardized instructions and template, as part of the effort to free up some time for both the local and virtual team members and allow for more time in building professional relationships. The findings from Theme 2 aligned with the existing body of knowledge and the conceptual framework for this study.

Emergent Theme 3: Continuous Training

A virtual team leader cannot assume that the virtual team members know what they are doing or what they are to do. Individuals are at different levels of virtuality; a leader needs to ensure sufficient training on the use of ICTs (Morley et al., 2015). Training should include but not limited to things as plain as the expected file naming convention and how to find information on the intranet (Snyder, 2015). Organization XYZ leadership see training virtual team members as a necessity in the effort to achieve and sustain a high level of performance. The virtual team members are willing to learn, but there are sometimes some challenges relating to virtual team leaders. First, organizational leadership has to ensure that virtual team leaders are in full support of the virtual team process. A virtual team leader is crucial to the success of a virtual team (Dissanayake et al., 2015; Liao, 2017). The virtual team leaders must be willing to take the time to train members and or ensure that members have adequate training to do the job.

Training needs to be structured as well as continuous. Training is easier when there is consistency in virtual team's members. Having to work with different virtual team member makes it a little more difficult for the virtual team members and leader (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Consistency in terms of keeping the same virtual team members together is advantageous to the success of the training process and the whole virtual team process. Virtual team leaders are also more likely to invest time and effort with consistent team members as opposed to other members who are employed for a short duration of time. Participants XYZ2 noted as follows:

XYZ2: if I had one person who was working for me remotely and who always working for me remotely, that would make things, I think, easier because then I can build a real relationship with that person and right now as it is, I don't get to pick who does my work for the most part. So, it is just a random person. So, there is not really the incentive there to train or spend time with that individual because I am only going to work with him on this one 10 hour piece of work and I move on to other accounts.

It is beneficial and profitable to businesses to keep the same virtual team members together as much as possible (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Every team member and leader should receive continuous training; training should be available on boarding, at various intervals based on organizational determination and employees' need, and before and after the implementation of a new system (Cordes, 2017; Zuofa & Ochieng, 2017). Continuous training is important for both the team leaders and the team member (Cordes, 2017; Zuofa & Ochieng, 2017). It is also helpful to make written instructions available so that employees can refer to those instructions as needed. Written step-by-step instructions in the most basic form are beneficial to employees. Participant XYZ4 indicated that email instructions are helpful and might be better and more useful to virtual teams than making phone calls to them. In other words, it is helpful to email instructions that are not standardized in the most basic step-by-step form to allow virtual team members something to refer back to as the need arises.

Participant XYZ3indicated that training virtual team members take up to 2 hours daily; on member checking, participant XYZ3 indicated that training virtual team

members take 1.5 hours or more daily. The review of archival document showed that organization XYZ leadership has several standardized instructions and templates in place for the local team's use with the virtual teams. This allows for efficiency by both the local and virtual teams, consistently high-quality service as confusion is greatly reduced, and better use of time due to the prevention of rework. The findings from theme 3 aligned with the existing body of knowledge and the conceptual framework for this study.

Emergent Theme 4: Communication Tools and Frequency

Tools. Communication tools impact virtual team communication as well as performance (Collins et al., 2017). Virtual teams make use of varied communication media or tools depending on the organization's preferences and need (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017; Dixon, 2017; Kramer, Shuffler, & Feitosa, 2017; O'Leary et al., 2014). The use of advance and suitable ICTs enable real-time, immediate, or within seconds communication among virtual team members; enabling rapid information exchange and collaboration among geographically distributed team members and leaders (Collins et al., 2017; Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). Participant XYZ1 noted as follow:

I would say the google hangout is highly effective because it is like you are talking to them. The video chats too, that's probably the best one because you can see them, you can see their body language. They could share even personal details. It is like you are working with them onsite, but they are online. So I think the video conference I will put as number 1, the hangout chat is number 2 and the email is number 3.

Organization XYZ makes use of communication media or tools in the form of

video conferencing system, teleconferencing system, phone, emails, and chat. It is common practice for virtual teams to make use of communication tools such as phone, instant messenger, video conferencing systems, teleconferencing systems, intranet, email, text, chat, discussion forum, etc. (Barnwell et al., 2014; Bartelt & Dennis, 2014; Crayon et al., 2017; Dixon, 2017; Kramer et al., 2017). The key is to use the right tools that appropriately meet the needs of the organization. The Indian team does not appear at a moment's notice to readily have available the necessary ICT to communicate with the locale team using video conferencing. The India team appear to have to go through a booking process to secure the space and ICTs needed for video conferencing. The India teams' inability to video conference at a moments' notice makes quick real-time communication that requires video conferencing a little more challenging with the India team.

Frequency. Virtual communication is tough (Lockwood, 2015). One of the ways in which organization XYZ handles this tough mode of communication is via constant communication, as needed on a daily basis with various virtual team members. One of the vital elements of an effective and efficient virtual team is regular communication (Dixon, 2017; Morgan et al., 2014). Frequent communication along with shared identity among virtual team members and leaders allow for perceived propinquity, which mediates communication and relationship quality (O'Leary et al. 2014). Communication frequency along with communication quality and content is crucial to effective virtual team communication (Marlow et al., 2017; Lilian, 2014). Consistent communication is vital to the success of a virtual team (Crayon et al., 2017). Participant XYZ4 noted constant

communication as the likely key to enhanced virtual teams' performance.

According to Chang et al., (2014) there is a negative relationship between high communication and virtual team performance. Organization XYZ has not experienced this negative relationship, rather the regular communication with Argentina virtual team has resulted in an efficient and high performing team. On the other hand, the irregular and delayed communication between the local team and the India virtual team has resulted in some frustration and delayed work output. The local team and the India team communicate on a daily basis, but there is about a day's delay in receiving a response due to the time zone difference. While organization XYZ considers regular communication as key to enhance performance, organization XYZ also sees communication quality as important. Communication quality is vital in enhancing virtual team performance (Marlow et al., 2017; Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017).

Member checking did not yield any additional information for theme 4. The review of archival document showed that organization XYZ leadership has appropriate ICTs in place for use. Organization XYZ leadership support constant and strategic communication between the local team and the virtual teams. XYZ leadership gave some guidelines as to when communication should take place. Communication should take place right from the beginning of a project when planning and goal setting take place, and at various times on a consistent basis throughout the life cycle of the project. The findings from theme four aligned with the existing body of knowledge and the conceptual framework for this study.

Emergent Theme 5: Leadership Training and Development

Organization XYZ's leadership had some difficulties in getting the organization's virtual team leaders to engage and fully buy into the virtual work process. The challenges that came with the process made the concept of virtual teams discouraging for the local team. Participants noted that the local team members were not fully in support of the virtual team concept due to the challenges involved with such teams especially teams that have huge time zones differences compared to the local team.

Virtual team leaders' buy-into the virtual team concept is important to the success of virtual teams (Dissanayake et al., 2015; Liao, 2017; Lilian, 2014; Pozin et al., 2016). It is important that virtual team leaders are supportive of the virtual team concept. The importance of the virtual team leader in a virtual team cannot be overemphasized (Lilian, 2014; Pozin et al., 2016). Organizational leadership bears the responsibility of hiring the right people with the right mindset as the virtual team leaders (Ford et al., 2017). Organizational leadership also bears the responsibility of ensuring that current virtual team leaders receive appropriate training and keep up to date with the strategies needed to enhance team performance (Ford et al., 2017; Morley et al., 2015). Organizational leadership also bears the responsibility of availing the virtual team leader, and members with the appropriate ICTs needed to accomplish their duties (Cordes, 2017; Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017).

Participants noted that organization XYZ leadership had put things in place such as appropriate training including cultural competence, communication tools, travel to virtual

locations and vice versa, and encouragement of virtual team leaders to embrace the virtual team concept.

Leading a virtual team is not the same as leading a traditional team; it requires more from a leader (Barnwell et al., 2014; Lilian, 2014; Schmidt, 2014). Virtual team leaders need to have a high degree of thoughtfulness to team members' outlook, be culturally sensitive and knowledgeable, have healthy social networking skills, be understanding and acceptant of the virtual team concept (Lilian, 2014). Virtual team leaders need to understand the importance of their role in the success of the virtual team concept. A virtual team leader is vital to the success of a virtual team; such a leader must provide vibrant motivation, strong and active leadership support, and applicable ICTs for an effective collaborative effort to take place in a virtual team (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017). An effective virtual team leader brings its team member together in a manner that fosters teamwork, friendship, cultural sensitivities and decreases conflicts (Barnwell et al., 2014; Ford et al., 2017). An experienced virtual team leader, who receives continuous training, provided by the organization, is in a great position to help build trust among team members (Ford et al., 2017; Zuofa & Ochieng, 2017).

Organization XYZ is at various stages of Tuckman's small group developmental model, depending on the virtual team in consideration. Tuckman (1965) believes that every team experiences the stages of the small group developmental model based on the team's social and task behavior. McGrew et al. (1999) indicated that groups decline in stages in a reverse Tuckman order. Ayoko, Konrad, and Boyle (2012) believe that groups do not go through the small group developmental stages in any particular order.

Member checking did not yield any additional information for theme 5. The review of archival document showed that organization XYZ leadership has several things in place to support the virtual team leaders. Things in place include the standardized instructions and templates that the local team's use with the virtual teams, taking away the burden of rework while enabling efficiency, consistency, and high-quality work by both the virtual team leaders and members. The findings from theme 5 aligned with the existing body of knowledge and the conceptual framework for this study.

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings from this study are applicable and significant to professional practice in a several ways. The findings are pertinent to organizational leaders and virtual team leaders. The purpose of this study was to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. Leading a virtual team is not the same as leading a traditional team as leading a virtual team necessitates more from a leader (Barnwell et al., 2014; Lilian, 2014; Schmidt, 2014). Virtual team leaders face most of the same challenges experienced by traditional team leaders and more, but virtual team leaders have to combat those challenges using different strategies and tactics than those used by traditional team leaders (Saafein & Shaykhian, 2014).

The finding from this study could potentially avail organizational leaders new knowledge in communication strategies for managing virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. The availability of this new knowledge could potentially change the way organizational leaders implement, manage, and support virtual teams and virtual team leaders. The availability of this new knowledge to organizational leaders and

virtual team leaders could potentially influence the communication strategies used with virtual teams in real time with the goal of enhancing team performance, which could result in an increase of high performing virtual teams, and enhanced organizational performance.

The findings from this study show that virtual team leaders are essential to the success of any virtual team; this aligns with the literature. The literature indicates that virtual team leaders are imperative to the success of virtual teams (Dissanayake et al., 2015; Liao, 2017; Lilian, 2014; Pozin et al., 2016). Virtual team leaders need to be fully engaged and supportive of the virtual team process. Virtual team leaders need appropriate training to manage a virtual team in real time in a manner that results in enhanced and sustainable team performance. The result of this study could potentially influence the manner of preparation and support organizational leaders avail virtual team leaders.

Findings from this study could potentially encourage organizational leaders and virtual team leaders to reassess the current communication strategies they use in managing virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. This act of reassessment could bring about major changes in the way businesses communicate and manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. Business practitioners could potentially implement some or all of the communication strategies recommended based on the findings of this study, to manage their virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance

Implications for Social Change

Virtual teams have permeated the business world in a rapid manner (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Fan et al., 2014; Yilmaz & Peña, 2015). It has become the norm for organizations to make use of virtual teams to compete with other organizations and meet consumers' demand (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015; Hoch & Kozlowski, 2014; Saafein & Shaykhian, 2014). Organizations seeking global presence needs to make use of virtual teams (Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016). Though virtual teams have grown rapidly, some leaders are ignorant of how to lead such teams to sustain and increase performance (Pangil & Chan, 2014).

The findings of this study in which I explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance, contribute to a positive social change in many ways. The findings from this study add to the existing body of knowledge by providing communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. The implications for positive social change include the possibility for virtual team leaders and members to communicate in a way that positively enhances performance (Barnwell et al., 2014). The result of this study could result in a change or enhancement in communication strategies used in virtual teams, which could result in higher employee satisfaction, which in turn could benefit the organizations, virtual employees, their families, and communities.

The exploration and identification of the communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance has the possibility of resulting in high performing virtual teams which could bring about sustainable businesses

and satisfied employees, and as such facilitate organizational growth and development which is beneficial to the organizations, employees, their families, and communities. The findings from this study could potentially avail organizational leaders and virtual team members the strategies needed to achieve and sustain high performing virtual teams, which in turn could benefit the organizations, virtual employees, their families, and communities. Organizational leaders could implement strategies to include but not limited to the provision of appropriate, adequate, and continuous training to virtual team members and leaders; investment in employees' development of cultural competence; support and investment in relationship building among virtual team members; the provision of appropriate communication tools; supporting and ensuring adequate and appropriate preparation for virtual team leaders. The findings from this study could provide strategies for organizational leaders, virtual team members, and virtual team leaders to overcome some of the challenges that befall virtual teams.

Recommendations for Action

The use of virtual teams by organizations have been on a high rise since the early 1980s; this rise is expected to continue as virtual teams become the norm as globalization increases and organizations compete and draw expertise from all over the globe (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015; Hoch & Kozlowski, 2014; Saafein & Shaykhian, 2014). The findings from this study are beneficial to organizations and business leaders that use or plan to make use of virtual teams. The results of this study are also beneficial to virtual team leaders and virtual team members; it is beneficial to the virtual community as a whole because it could improve communication in virtual

teams in real time to enhance team performance. The findings from this study and the recommendations for action could allow for better communication among virtual team members and leaders, better managed virtual teams, successful virtual teams and organizations.

Based on the findings from this study, I recommendations that organizational leaders ensure that virtual team leaders are engaged and supportive of the virtual team process; appropriately trained initially and intermittently throughout the lifetime of the virtual team; culturally sensitive and culturally competent; adequately prepared to lead virtual teams; and have a thorough understanding of their roles and responsibilities as virtual team leaders. A virtual team leader is imperative to the success of a virtual team (Dissanayake et al., 2015; Liao, 2017). It is vital that the virtual team leader is fully engaged and prepared to carry out the responsibilities of a virtual team leader.

Organizational leaders should ensure the provision of adequate and appropriate ICTs for the use of the virtual team members and leaders. Communication tools have a big impact on communication as well as performance. The use of appropriate ICTs allow for real-time communication among team members; in essence, it allows for quick information sharing and collaboration among geographically dispersed team members and leaders, affecting performance (Davidekova & Hvorecký, 2017).

Organizational leaders should ensure that all members of the virtual team receive initial and continuous training. Training should also take place at the introduction of a new system. Written step-by-step instructions in the most basic form are most beneficial to employees. Employees can always refer to the training later as needed. Appropriate

training including training on the use of ICTs enhances performance (Morley et al., 2015).

Organizational leadership along with input from the virtual team leaders needs to establish communication standards and expectations, which includes the frequency and quality of communication. Organizational leadership, as well as virtual team leaders, should make sure that all members of the virtual team are aware of the communication standards and expectations. The essential elements of an effective virtual team include regular communication and the communication of clear goals and objectives by both team leader and members (Morgan et al., 2014). Virtual team members and leaders need to understand that consistent communication is imperative to the success of a virtual team (Crayon et al., 2017).

Organizational leaders should avail virtual team leaders the opportunity to meet face-to-face with virtual team members on a regular basis; the face-to-face meeting could be quarterly, semi-annually, annually, or however often the organization deems fit, but these face-to-face meetings should not be too far apart. This avail virtual team leaders and members the opportunity to build trust and better working relationships, as well as help in the development of cultural competence. The building of trust and better working relationships and the development of cultural competence allow for the mitigation of some of the challenges that overtake virtual teams.

Organizational leaders should pay attention to time synchronization between virtual teams. It is important to do this successfully to enable real-time communication among virtual team members and leaders, enhancing team performance. Organizational

leaders should consider implementing varied tour of duty to allow for better time synchronization. Organizational leaders could also choose to work more with virtual teams that have comparable time zones.

I will disseminate the results of this study through scholarly journals, business journals, and workplace newsletters. The study participants and immediate family members will receive a summary of the study findings along with recommendations that may provide additional communication strategies for managing virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. I will also circulate the result of this study through academic and professional seminars, conferences, and training relating to virtual teams and virtual team leaders. Organizations and business leaders could use the results of this study to prepare and equip virtual team leaders with the communication strategies they can use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore what communication strategies leaders used to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. Study limitations are potential weaknesses outside the researcher's control that can impact the study process and outcome (Connelly, 2013). There are some limitations in the fact that the participants for the study were four successful virtual team leaders from a multinational accounting firm located on the West Coast of the United States of America.

I recommend the future exploration of other professions. I encourage the future exploration of other geographical settings. I also encourage future exploration with all

team members regardless of whether they are leaders or not. I recommend future exploration based on gender that is male versus female virtual team leaders. I particularly encourage the exploration of the experience of team member without official leadership roles. It might be revealing to look at the result separately and together, that is, look at leadership responses, the responses of those not in an official leadership role, and the responses of both groups. Reviewing the results in this manner may allow for a new and different perspective, and a larger sample size. It might also be beneficial to conduct a mixed study; this might allow the researcher to tap into the benefits of using both the qualitative and quantitative method and a thicker and richer result (Annansingh & Howell, 2016). I recommend a longitudinal study with some startup virtual teams. It might be revealing to follow these organizations for some years while monitoring for a number of things including the different strategies used by each organization at different points in the businesses' life cycle; the strategies that enhanced or did not enhance performance for each organization; and the organizations that make it past five years and maybe 10 years mark thriving. It might be informative to see how the strategies change or do not change over time. It might be informative to compare the strategies used by the organizations that do not make it past the first five years with those that do to see if there is a major difference in strategies.

Communication and trust go together in building a successful virtual team (Guinalíu & Jordán, 2016; Sarker et al., 2011). The absence of communication or communication standards can give rise to distrust and unsuccessful communication (Cordes, 2017). I recommend further study on the relationship between virtual team

communication and trust among virtual team members. It might also be enlightening to see which has more influence on virtual team performance, availability of advance ICTs or regular and consistent communication. It might also be worth taking a closer look at the relationship between different types of leadership style and virtual team performance.

Reflections

Virtual teams are quickly permeating the business world as organizations look for better ways to successfully compete while keeping cost down and employees satisfied (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Dumitraşcu & Dumitraşcu, 2015). It is imperative that business leaders are knowledgeable of the communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance, which is the purpose of this study. The whole virtual team concept was and still is of high interest to me. I see the virtual team concept as a way for organizations to achieve (a) great business successes, (b) outstanding performance, (c) high level of employee commitment and satisfaction, (d) positive influence on the community and much more. I believe the world is yet to see or even conceive in any mind the path to which virtuality will take the business world. I believe there is a lot of potential with virtuality that is yet to unfold.

The DBA Doctoral Study process has allowed me the opportunity to dig deep into the virtual team world. I started the research process aware of my biases which completely favors the virtual team concept. This awareness is one of the things that kept me focused on ensuring that my study was unbiased. I put several things in place to ensure the validity and reliability of the study result.

The DBA Doctoral Study process has been very informative and educational for me. It has allowed me to develop and expand in many ways. I believe the DBA Doctoral Study process allowed me to expand and develop more in the areas of patience, focus, organization, and multitasking.

As the finish line draws closer, I can now say that the DBA Doctoral Study process has been invigorating, fulfilling, as well as worth it. There were bumps along the way, but perseverance, persistent, determination, support from friends and family, and the grace of God allowed me to continue. I find the results of this study encouraging. Virtual teams have come a long way, and it is on the path of continuous improvement. I see the virtual team as the future of highly successful organizations.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance. Virtual teams are becoming the norm in today's business world (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017; Fan et al., 2014). A virtual team leader is essential to the success of a virtual team and need to be rightly equipped with the appropriate knowledge and communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance (Dissanayake et al., 2015; Liao, 2017; Lilian, 2014; Pozin et al., 2016).

It is common knowledge that there is a rise in the use of virtual teams by organizations (Charlier et al., 2016; Foster et al., 2015; Minas et al., 2014). The use of virtual teams is the future for businesses (Ford et al., 2017). The findings from this study could potentially provide organizational leaders with the communication strategies

needed to achieve and sustain high performing virtual teams, which in turn could benefit the organizations, virtual employees, their families, and the communities

While virtual team leaders are critical to the success of virtual teams, virtual team members are also important to the success of virtual teams (Liao, 2017; Pozin et al., 2016; Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Organizational leaders need to invest appropriately in both virtual team leaders and members to allow for enhanced performance. Appropriate training for both virtual team leaders and members onboarding and at other intervals throughout the virtual team's life cycle is important. Time synchronization is also of utmost importance in the effort towards real-time communication among virtual teams' members and leaders to enhance team performance. On a final note, virtual teams are here to stay, and the sooner virtual team leaders learn to make the best use of virtual teams the better it would be for the organizations, virtual employees, their families, and the communities.

References

- Alsharo, M., Gregg, D., & Ramirez, R. (2017). Virtual team effectiveness: The role of knowledge sharing and trust. *Information & Management*, 54, 479-490. doi:10.1016/j.im.2016.10.005
- Amerson, R. (2011). Making a case for the case study method. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 50, 427-428. doi:10.3928/01484834-20110719-01
- Anderson, C. (2010). Presenting and evaluating qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 74(8), 1-7. doi:10.5688/aj7408141
- Annansingh, F., & Howell, K. (2016). Using phenomenological constructivism (PC) to discuss a mixed method approach in information systems research. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *14*(1), 39-49. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Ayoko, O. B., Konrad, A. M., & Boyle, M. V. (2012). Online work: Managing conflict and emotions for performance in virtual teams. *European Management Journal*, 30, 156-174. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2011.10.001
- Bäckryd, E., Ghafouri, B., Carlsson, A., Olausson, P., & Gerdle, B. (2015). Multivariate proteomic analysis of the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with peripheral neuropathic pain and healthy controls a hypothesis-generating pilot study.

 **Journal of Pain Research*, 8, 321-333. doi:10.2147/JPR.S82970
- Barbour, J. B., Doshi, M. J., & Hernández, L. H. (2015). Telling global public health stories: Narrative message design for issues management. *Communication Research*, *43*, 810-843. doi:10.1177/0093650215579224

- Barnwell, D., Nedrick, S., Rudolph, E., Sesay, M., & Wellen, W. (2014). Leadership of international and virtual project teams. *International Journal of Global Business*, 7(2), 1-8. Retrieved from http://www.gsmi-ijgb.com/Pages/default.aspx
- Bartelt, V. L., & Dennis, A. R. (2014). Nature and nurture: The impact of automaticity and the structuration of communication on virtual team behavior and performance. *MIS Quarterly*, 38, 521-538. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, *13*, 544-559. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR13-4/baxter
- Benia, L. R., Hauck-Filho, N., Dillenburg, M., & Stein, L. M. (2015). The NICHD investigative interview protocol: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 24, 259-279. doi:10.1080/10538712.2015.1006749
- Bluhm, D. J., Harman, W., Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (2011). Qualitative research in management: A decade of progress. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48, 1866-1891. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00972.x
- Boughzala, I., & de Vreede, G. (2015). Evaluating team collaboration quality: The development and field application of a collaboration maturity model. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 32(3), 129-157.

 doi:10.1080/07421222.2015.1095042
- Breuer, C., Hüffmeier, J., & Hertel, G. (2016). Does trust matter more in virtual teams? A meta-analysis of trust and team effectiveness considering virtuality and documentation as moderators. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *101*, 1151-1177.

- doi:10.1037/apl0000113
- Brotheridge, C. M., Neufeld, D. J., & Dyck, B. (2015). Communicating virtually in a global organization. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *30*, 909-924. doi:10.1108/JMP-06-2013-0191
- Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor. (2016, July 8). 24 percent of employed people did some or all of their work at home in 2015. *The Economics Daily*. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2016/24-percent-of-employed-people-did-some-or-all-of-their-work-at-home-in-2015.htm
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41, 545-547. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 811-830. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss5/2/
- Chang, H. H., Hung, C., & Hsieh, H. (2014). Virtual teams: Cultural adaptation, communication quality, and interpersonal trust. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 25, 1318-1335. doi:10.1080/14783363.2012.704274
- Charlier, S. D., Stewart, G. L., Greco, L. M., & Reeves, C. J. (2016). Emergent leadership in virtual teams: A multilevel investigation of individual communication and team dispersion antecedents. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27, 745-764. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.05.002
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative

- research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10.1111/jan.12163
- Collins, N., Chou, Y., & Warner, M. (2014). Member satisfaction, communication and role of leader in virtual self-managed teamwork: Case studies in Asia-Pacific region. *Human Systems Management*, *33*, 155-170. doi:10.3233/HSM-140824
- Collins, N., Chou, Y. M., Warner, M., & Rowley, C. (2017). Human factors in East Asian virtual teamwork: A comparative study of Indonesia, Taiwan, and Vietnam. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 28, 1475-1498. doi:10.1080/09585192.2015.1089064
- Connelly, L. M. (2013). Limitation section. *Medsurg Nursing*, 22, 325-325, 336.

 Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgi-bin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 89-91. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Cordes, S. (2017). Intervention for improving virtual team climate and decision performance. *Journal of Interactive Learning Research*, 28, 29-48. Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/j/JILR
- Crayon, C., Patton, T., Gyurcsak, S. A., & Steigerwald, A. (2017). Managing a virtual project team: Offshoring technical services in the Philippines. *International Journal of Global Business*, 10(1), 37-6. Retrieved from http://www.gsmi-ijgb.com/Pages/IJGB.aspx
- Davidekova, M., & Hvorecký, J. (2017). ICT collaboration tools for virtual teams in

- terms of the SECI model. *International Journal of Engineering Pedagogy*, 7(1), 95-116. doi:10.3991/ijep.v7i1.6502
- De Jong, B. A., Dirks, K. T., & Gillespie, N. (2016). Trust and team performance: A meta-analysis of main effects, moderators, and covariates. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *101*, 1134-1150. doi:10.1037/apl0000110
- Dissanayake, I., Zhang, J., & Gu, B. (2015). Task division for team success in crowdsourcing contests: Resource allocation and alignment effects. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 32(2), 8-39. doi:10.1080/07421222.2015.1068604
- Dixon, N. (2017). Learning together and working apart: Routines for organizational learning in virtual teams. *The Learning Organization*, 24, 119-126. doi:10.1108/TLO-12-2016-0101
- Doody, O., & Doody, C. M. (2015). Conducting a pilot study: Case study of a novice researcher. *British Journal of Nursing*, 24, 1074-1078. doi:10.12968/bjon.2015.24.21.1074
- Dulebohn, J. H., & Hoch, J. E. (2017). Virtual teams in organizations. *Human Resource Management Review*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.004
- Dumitraşcu, L., & Dumitraşcu, D. D. (2015). Virtual teams management in global international projects. *Review of Management & Economic Engineering*, *14*, 691-701. Retrieved from http://www.rmee.amier.org/
- Eldridge, S. M., Lancaster, G. A., Campbell, M. J., Thabane, L., Hopewell, S., Coleman,

- C. L., & Bond, C. M. (2016). Defining feasibility and pilot studies in preparation for randomised controlled trials: Development of a conceptual framework. *PLoS One*, *11*(3), 1-22. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0150205
- Ellwart, T., Happ, C., Gurtner, A., & Rack, O. (2015). Managing information overload in virtual teams: Effects of a structured online team adaptation on cognition and performance. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 24, 812-826, doi:10.1080/1359432X.2014.1000873
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open*, 4(1), 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- El-Sofany, H., Alwadani, H., & Alwadani, A. (2014). Managing virtual teamwork in IT projects: Survey. *International Journal of Advanced Corporate Learning*, 7(4), 28-33. doi:10.3991/ijac.v7i4.4018
- Esin, C., Fathi, M., & Squire, C. (2014). Narrative analysis: The constructionist approach.

 In U. Flick (Ed.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative data analysis* (pp. 203-216).

 doi:10.4135/9781446282243.n14
- Espinosa, J. A., Nan, N., & Carmel, E. (2015). Temporal distance, communication patterns, and task performance in teams. *Journal of Management Information*Systems, 32(1), 151-191. doi:10.1080/07421222.2015.1029390
- Eubanks, D. L., Palanski, M., Olabisi, J., Joinson, A., & Dove, J. (2016). Team dynamics in virtual, partially distributed teams: Optimal role fulfillment. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *61*, 556-568. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.035

- Fan, K. T., Chen, Y. H., Wang, C. W., & Chen, M. (2014). E-leadership effectiveness in virtual teams: Motivating language perspective. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 114, 421-437. doi:10.1108/IMDS-07-2013-0294
- Fan, X. (2013). "The test is reliable"; "The test is valid": Language use, unconscious assumptions, and education research practice. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 22, 217-218. doi:10.1007/s40299-012-0036-y
- Ford, R. C., Piccolo, R. F., & Ford, L. R. (2017). Strategies for building effective virtual teams: Trust is key. *Business Horizons*, 60, 25-34. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2016.08.009
- Foster, M. K., Abbey, A., Callow, M. A., Zu, X., & Wilbon, A. D. (2015). Rethinking virtuality and its impact on teams. *Small Group Research*, 46, 267-299. doi:10.1177/1046496415573795
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 91, 184-194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Fusch, P. I., & Fusch, G. E. (2015). Leadership and conflict resolution on the production line. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, *14*(1), 21-39. doi:10.5590/IJAMT.2015.14.1.02
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Gibbs, J. L., Sivunen, A., & Boyraz, M. (2017). Investigating the impacts of team type

- and design on virtual team processes. *Human Resource Management Review*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.006
- Gilson, L. L., Maynard, M. T., Young, N. C. J., Vartiainen, M., & Hakonen, M. (2015).

 Virtual teams research 10 years, 10 themes, and 10 opportunities. *Journal of Management*, 41, 1313-1337. doi:10.1177/0149206314559946
- González-Romá, V., & Hernández, A. (2014). Climate uniformity: Its influence on team communication quality, task conflict, and team performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99, 1042-1058. doi:10.1037/a0037868
- Grant, A. (2014). Troubling 'lived experience': A post-structural critique of mental health nursing qualitative research assumptions. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 21, 544-549. doi:10.1111/jpm.12113
- Guinalíu, M., & Jordán, P. (2016). Building trust in the leader of virtual work teams.

 Spanish Journal of Marketing-ESIC, 20, 58-70. doi:10.1016/j.reimke.2016.01.003
- Hamersly, B., & Land, D. (2015). Building productivity in virtual project teams. *Revista* de Gestão e Projetos, 6, 1-13. doi:10.5585/gep.v6i1.305
- Han, S. J., Chae, C., Macko, P., Park, W, & Beyerlein, M. (2017). How virtual team leaders cope with creativity challenges. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 41, 261-276. doi:10.1108/EJTD-10-2016-0073
- Hanebuth, A. (2015). Success factors of virtual research teams: Does distance still matter? *Management Revue*, 26, 161-179. doi:10.1688/mrev-2015-02-Hanebuth
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38, 23-38.

- doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hays, D. G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in journal of counseling & development qualitative research articles: A 15-Year
 Review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94, 172-183.
 doi:10.1002/jcad.12074
- He, J. & Gunter, G. (2015). Examining factors that affect students' knowledge sharing within virtual teams. *Journal of Interactive Learning Research*, 26, 169-187.

 Retrieved from https://www.aace.org/pubs/jilr/default.htm
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2016). Qualitative or mixed methods research inquiry approaches: Some loose guidelines for publishing in sex roles. *Sex Roles*, 74, 6-9. doi:10.1007/s11199-015-0568-8
- Hoare, Z., & Hoe, J. (2013). Understanding quantitative research: Part 2. *Nursing Standard*, 27(18), 48-55. doi:10.7748/ns2013.01.27.18.48.c9488
- Hoch, J. E., & Dulebohn, J. H. (2017). Team personality composition, emergent leadership and shared leadership in virtual teams: A theoretical framework. *Human Resource Management Review*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.012
- Hoch, J. E., & Kozlowski, S. J. (2014). Leading virtual teams: Hierarchical leadership, structural supports, and shared team leadership. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99, 390-403. doi:10.1037/a0030264
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Shaw, D., & Casey, D. (2015). Qualitative case study data analysis: An example from practice. *Nurse researcher*, 22(5), 8-12.

- doi:10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307
- Jang, C. (2013). Facilitating trust in virtual teams: The role of awareness. *Advances in Competitiveness Research*, 21(1/2), 61-77. Retrieved from http://www.eberly.iup.edu/ASCWeb/journals_acr.html
- Janghorban, R., Roudsari, R. L., & Taghipour, A. (2014). Skype interviewing: The new generation of online synchronous interview in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, *9*, 1-2. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.24152
- Kihn, L. A., & Ihantola, E. M. (2015). Approaches to validation and evaluation in qualitative studies of management accounting. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 12, 230-255. doi:10.1108/QRAM-03-2013-0012
- Klitmøller, A., Schneider, S. C., Jonsen, K. (2015). Speaking of global virtual teams:

 Language differences, social categorization and media choice. *Personnel Review*,

 44, 270-285. doi:10.1108/PR-11-2013-0205
- Kramer, W. S., Shuffler, M. L., & Feitosa, J. (2017). The world is not flat: Examining the interactive multidimensionality of culture and virtuality in teams. *Human**Resource Management Review, 27, 604-620. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.007
- Krumm, S., Kanthak, J., Hartmann, K., & Hertel, G. (2016). What does it take to be a virtual team player? The knowledge, skills, abilities, and other characteristics required in virtual teams. *Human Performance*, 29, 123-142. doi:10.1080/08959285.2016.1154061
- Kruth, J. G. (2015). Five qualitative research approaches and their applications in

- parapsychology. *Journal of Parapsychology*, 79(2), 219-233. Retrieved from http://www.rhine.org/what-we-do/journal-of-parapsychology.html
- Lahman, M. K., Rodriguez, K. L., Moses, L., Griffin, K. M., Mendoza, B. M., & Yacoub, W. (2015). A rose by any other name is still a rose? Problematizing pseudonyms in research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *21*, 445-453. doi:10.1177/1077800415572391
- Liao, C. (2017). Leadership in virtual teams: A multilevel perspective. *Human Resource Management Review*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.010
- Lilian, S. C. (2014). Virtual teams: Opportunities and challenges for e-leaders. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 110, 1251-1261.

 doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.972
- Lindstedt, D., & Lombardo, T. (2016). On continuity case studies. *Journal of Business*Continuity & Emergency Planning, 10, 93-100. Retrieved from

 http://www.henrystewartpublications.com/jbcep
- Lockwood, J. (2015). Virtual team management: What is causing communication breakdown? *Language and Intercultural Communication*, *15*, 125-140, doi:10.1080/14708477.2014.985310
- Long, S. D., Doerer, S., & Stewart, O. J. (2015). Virtual ethnography: Corporate virtual diversity communication. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 10, 175-200. doi:10.1108/QROM-03-2014-1207
- Lunnay, B., Borlagdan, J., McNaughton, D., & Ward, P. (2015). Ethical use of social

- media to facilitate qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 99-109. doi:10.1177/1049732314549031
- Marlow, S. L., Lacerenza, C. N., & Salas, E. (2017). Communication in virtual teams: A conceptual framework and research agenda. *Human Resource Management Review*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.005
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*, 537-542. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116
- McGrew, J. F., Bilotta, J. G., & Deeney, J. M. (1999). Software team formation and decay: Extending the standard model for small groups. *Small Group Research*, *30*, 209-234. doi:10.1177/104649649903000204
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2(2), doi:10.1177/2333393615597674
- McNaughton, D., Rackensperger, T., Dorn, D., & Wilson, N. (2014). "Home is at work and work is at home": Telework and individuals who use augmentative and alternative communication. *Work*, 48, 117-126. doi:10.3233/WOR-141860
- Minas, R. K., Potter, R. F., Dennis, A. R., Bartelt, V., & Bae, S. (2014). Putting on the thinking cap: Using NeuroIS to understand information processing biases in virtual teams. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, *30*(4), 49-82. doi:10.2753/MIS0742-1222300403
- Morgan, L., Paucar-Caceres, A., & Wright, G. (2014). Leading effective global virtual

- teams: The consequences of methods of communication. *Systemic Practice and Action Research*, 27, 607-624. doi:10.1007/s11213-014-9315-2
- Morley, S., Cormican, K., & Folan, P. (2015). An analysis of virtual team characteristics:

 A model for virtual project managers. *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation*, 10(1), 188-203. doi:10.4067/s0718-27242015000100014
- Morse, J. M. (2015). "Data were saturated..." *Qualitatiive Health Research*, 25, 587-588. doi:10.1177/1049732315576699
- Morse, J. M. (2016). Underlying ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 875-876. doi:10.1177/1049732316645320
- Morse, W. C., Lowery, D. R., & Steury, T. (2014). Exploring saturation of themes and spatial locations in qualitative public participation geographic information systems research. *Society & Natural Resources*, *27*, 557-571. doi:10.1080/08941920.2014.888791
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. doi:10.4135/9781412995658
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- O'Leary, M. B., Wilson, J. M., & Metiu, A. (2014). Beyond being there: The symbolic role of communication and identification in perceptions of proximity to geographically dispersed colleagues. *MIS Quarterly*, *38*, 1219-1243. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/
- Orhan, M. A. (2014). Extending the individual level of virtuality: Implications of task

- virtuality in virtual and traditional settings. *Administrative Sciences*, 4, 400-412. doi:10.3390/admsci4040400
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pangil, F., & Chan, J. M. (2014). The mediating effect of knowledge sharing on the relationship between trust and virtual team effectiveness. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 18, 92-106. doi:10.1108/JKM-09-2013-0341
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, 3(1), 1-7. doi:10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Parsons, S., Abbott, C., McKnight, L., & Davies, C. (2015). High risk yet invisible:

 Conflicting narratives on social research involving children and young people,
 and the role of research ethics committees. *British Educational Research Journal*,
 41, 709-729. doi:1012/berj.3160
- Plavin-Masterman, M. L. (2015). Are walls just walls? Organizational culture emergence in a virtual firm. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications & Conflict*, 19(2), 43-68. Retrieved from http://www.abacademies.org/journals/journal-of-organizational-culture-communications-and-conflict-home.html
- Powell, M. B., Hughes-Scholes, C. H., Smith, R., & Sharman, S. J. (2014). The

- relationship between investigative interviewing experience and open-ended question usage. Police Practice and Research, 15, 283-292. doi:10.1080/15614263.2012.704170
- Pozin, M. A. A., Nawi, M. N. M., & Romle, A. R. (2016). Effectiveness of virtual team for improving communication breakdown in ibs project delivery process. *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, *5*(4), 121-130.

 Retrieved from http://ojs.excelingtech.co.uk/index.php/IJSCM/index
- Rafnsdóttir, G. L., & Stefánsson, A. S. (2014). Virtual work and work-life balance for managers. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9(11), 1-12. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p1
- Reczek, C. (2014). Conducting a multi family member interview study. *Family Process*, 53, 318-335. doi:10.1111/famp.12060
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing bias in teaching qualitative research methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21, 332-342. doi:10.1177/1077800414563803
- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77, 243-260. doi:10.1111/jomf.12147
- Saafein, O., & Shaykhian, G. A. (2014). Factors affecting virtual team performance in

- telecommunication support environment. *Telematics and Informatics*, *31*, 459-462. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2013.10.004
- Salmona, M., & Kaczynski, D. (2016). Don't blame the software: Using qualitative data analysis software successfully in doctoral research. *Forum: Qualitative Social* (*Sozialforschung*), 17(3). Retrieved from http://www.qualitativeresearch.net/index.php/fqs/index
- Sarker, S., Ahuja, M., Sarker, S., & Kirkeby, S. (2011). The role of communication and trust in global virtual teams: A social network perspective. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 28(1), 273-310. doi:10.2753/MIS0742-1222280109
- Schaubroeck, J. M., & Yu, A. (2017). When does virtuality help or hinder teams? Core team characteristics as contingency factors. *Human Resource Management Review*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.009
- Schmidt, G. B. (2014). Virtual leadership: An important leadership context. *Industrial & Organizational Psychology*, 7, 182-187. doi:10.1111/iops.12129
- Siebdrat, F., Hoegl, M., & Ernst, H. (2014). Subjective distance and team collaboration in distributed teams. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, *31*, 765-779. doi:10.1111/jpim.12122
- Snyder, K. (2015). Exploring digital culture in virtual teams: Implications for leading and developing distributed organisations. *Journal of Organisational Transformation* & Social Change, 12, 211-233. doi:10.1080/14779633.2015.1101247
- Sotiriadou, P., Brouwers, J., & Le, T. A. (2014). Choosing a qualitative data analysis

- tool: A comparison of NVivo and Leximancer. *Annals of Leisure Research*, *17*, 218-234. doi:10.1080/11745398.2014.902292
- Topchyan, R. (2015). Competencies affecting knowledge sharing in virtual learning teams. *Knowledge Management & E-Learning: An International Journal*, 7, 316-333. Retrieved from http://www.kmel-journal.org/ojs/index.php/online-publication
- Tuckman, B. W. (1965). Developmental sequence in small groups. *Psychological Bulletin*, 63, 384-399. doi:10.1037/h0022100
- Tuckman, B. W., & Jensen, M. (1977). Stages of small-group development revisited.

 Group & Organization Management, 2, 419-427.

 doi:10.1177/105960117700200404
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of National Research Protection.
 (2016). The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research (NIH Publication No. L. 93-348). Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/index.html
- van der Land, S. F., Schouten, A. P., Feldberg, F., Huysman, M., & van den Hooff, B.

 (2015). Does avatar appearance matter? How team visual similarity and memberavatar similarity influence virtual team performance. *Human Communication Research*, 41, 128-153. doi:10.1111/hcre.12044
- Wadsworth, M. B., & Blanchard, A. L. (2015). Influence tactics in virtual teams.

 *Computers in Human Behavior, 44, 386-393. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.026

 Waters, J. (2015). Snowball sampling: A cautionary tale involving a study of older drug

- users. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *18*, 367-380. doi:10.1080/13645579.2014.953316
- Xue, Y., Yu, T., & Hock Hai, T. (2015). Fostering fast-response spontaneous virtual team: Effects of member skill awareness and shared governance on team cohesion and outcomes. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, *16*, 919-946.

 Retrieved from http://aisel.aisnet.org/jais/
- Yilmaz, G. (2016). What you do and how you speak matter: Behavioral and linguistic determinants of performance in virtual teams. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 35, 76-97. doi:10.1177/0261927X15575772
- Yilmaz G. & Peña, J. (2015). How do interpersonal behaviors and social categories affect language use? The case of virtual teams. *Communication Quarterly*, 63, 427-443, doi:10.1080/01463373.2015.1058285
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 27, 13-15. doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v27i1.4
- Zhang, W. (2014). Mixed methods application in health intervention research: A multiple case study. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 8, 24-35. doi:10.5172/mra.2014.8.1.24
- Ziek, P., & Smulowitz, S. (2014). The impact of emergent virtual leadership competencies on team effectiveness. *Leadership & Organization Development*

Journal, 35, 106-120. doi:10.1108/lodj-03-2012-0043

Zuofa, T., & Ochieng, E. G. (2017). Working separately but together: Appraising virtual project team challenges. *Team Performance Management: An International Journal*, 23(5/6), 227-242. doi:10.1108/TPM-06-2016-0030

Appendix A: Semistructured Interview Questions

Interview Questions

- 1. How do you assess or measure your virtual teams' performance?
- 2. What performance challenges have you experienced with your virtual teams?
- 3. What communication strategies, processes, and tools do you use to manage your virtual teams in real time to enhance performance?
- 4. How do you assess the effectiveness of the communications strategies, processes, and tools you have implemented to manage your virtual teams in real time to enhance performance?
- 5. What, if any, barriers did you encounter to implementing the communications strategies, processes, and tools?
- 6. How did you address the barriers to implementing the communications strategies, processes, and tools for enhancing your virtual teams' performance?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share about the communication strategies, processes, and tools that you use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance?

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol	
What I plan to do	What I plan to say
Introduce the interview and set the stage	Hello Mr. XYZ. Thank you so much for agreeing to participate in my doctoral study. My name is XXX. I work with a ABC where I am currently ABCD. I am a doctoral level student at Walden University in the Doctor of Business Administration Program. This research is one of the requirements for my program.
	Once again, the purpose of my study is to explore what communication strategies leaders use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance.
	This interview should take between 30 to 45 minutes. I will ask seven main questions; I may need to ask for clarification on your responses. You have the right to refuse to answer any question.
	As a reminder, this interview is confidential; your name, the name of your organization, and any other personal identifying information that could lead to you or your organization being identified will not be used anywhere in my paper.
	As I begin recording, I will refer to you as participant XYZ2.
	Do you have any questions before we begin?
	I will begin the interview at this time.
 Begin interview Watch for non-verbal queues Paraphrase as needed Ask follow-up probing questions as needed 	 How do you assess or measure your virtual teams' performance? What performance challenges have you experienced with your virtual teams? What communication strategies, processes, and tools do you use to manage

your virtual teams in real time to enhance performance?

- 4. How do you assess the effectiveness of the communications strategies, processes, and tools you have implemented to manage your virtual teams in real time to enhance performance?
- 5. What, if any, barriers did you encounter to implementing the communications strategies, processes, and tools?
- 6. How did you address the barriers to implementing the communications strategies, processes, and tools for enhancing your virtual teams' performance?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share about the communication strategies, processes, and tools that you use to manage virtual teams in real time to enhance team performance?

Wrap up interview and thank participant. Inform participants of follow-up member checking email

That was the last question. Thank you so much for your time.

The next thing is for me to go ahead and transcribe this interview. I will email you a summary of your response to each question. After reviewing the summary, if you would please let me know if I accurately captured what you intended to say. If I did not accurately capture your response, if you would please email me back what you meant to say so that I can update my information.

Meanwhile, please email me copies of documents that you are able to share that shows your communication strategies, communication or performance improvement plans, and or any information you considered relevant to my study in regards to the communication strategies you use as a virtual team leader.

Do you have any questions at this time?
Please feel free to contact me by phone or email if you later have any questions or concerns.
Once again, thank you and have a blessed rest of your day.